












































































































GOVERNANCE

DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION REPORT:
ANNUAL REPORT ON REMUNERATION
CONTINUED

Performance graph
The graphs below show Betfair’s Total Shareholder Return (share price with dividend reinvested) against the FTSE 350 Index since 
listing (27 October 2010) and over the three-year period to 30 April 2015, assuming a nominal £100 investment in Betfair Group plc 
and the FTSE 350 Index at the start of the timeframe. The FTSE 350 Index has been chosen as an appropriate comparator as Betfair is 
a constituent of this index. The additional chart has been shown for consistency with the 3-year LTIP performance period.

Change in CEO’s single total figure of remuneration
Year ending 30 April

FY15 FY14 FY13 FY12 FY11

Breon Corcoran – 
3,7382

Stephen Morana – 
291

Single figure of remuneration1 (£’000)
Breon Corcoran – 

11,627
Breon Corcoran – 

1,276
Stephen Morana– 

215
David Yu –  

 518
David Yu –  

1,6283

Annual bonus (vesting as % 
of maximum) 99.8% 73%

BC – 67%

SM – 31%

SM – 33% 

DY – 21% DY – n/a

LTIP vesting (vesting as % of maximum)4 100% n/a n/a n/a n/a

1	 Breon Corcoran was appointed CEO on 1 August 2012. Stephen Morana was Interim CEO for the period between 1 January 2012 and 31 July 2012.  
David Yu held the position of CEO prior to 1 January 2012. Information is shown for the full financial years since listing.

2	 This figure includes the face value of restricted share awards that were granted on Breon Corcoran’s recruitment.
3	 David Yu’s single figure of remuneration includes a cash award on IPO and an award of restricted stock with a combined value of £1,103,405.
4	 This is the current CEO’s first LTIP vesting and reflects the joining award he received and significant share price increase from grant (£7.68) to expected vesting 

(£20.13 based on the three month average share price to 30 April 2015).

Voting on the Remuneration Report at the AGM in 2014
At the 2014 AGM, a resolution was proposed for shareholders to approve the Directors’ Remuneration Policy and to approve the 2014 
Annual Report on Remuneration. The following votes were received:

Directors’  
Remuneration Policy

2014 Annual Report  
on Remuneration

Total number  
of votes

% of  
votes cast

Total number  
of votes

% of  
votes cast

Vote for 77,220,661 99.83% 51,173,565 68.10%

Vote against 129,886 0.17% 23,975,304 31.90%

Total 77,350,547 100% 75,148,869 100%

Votes withheld 1 – 2,201,679 –

The Board was mindful of the sizeable minority of investors who voted against the Annual Report on Remuneration and that the 
dissatisfaction that caused this resulted principally from the way in which adjustments were made to the 2011 LTIP performance 
targets. In light of this, the Remuneration Committee Chairman consulted leading shareholders and shareholder bodies to set out the 
background and context to the decision taken, and the proposed approach to be taken for the 2012 LTIP including the rectification to 
Breon Corcoran’s performance measures. The resolution presented at the 9 January 2015 General Meeting to amend the performance 
condition attached to Breon Corcoran’s LTIP award received 99.83% support.
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Implementation of remuneration policy for year to 30 April 2016
For FY16, the Committee decided not to increase the CEO’s and CFO’s salaries. The results of the salary review are set out in the 
table below:

Executive Salary FY16 Salary FY15
Percentage 

change

Breon Corcoran £530,450 £530,450 0%

Alex Gersh £400,000 £400,000 0%

Mark Brooker is currently the COO of the Group’s regulated business and is employed by TSE Data Processing Limited (a wholly owned 
Group subsidiary). Mark was promoted to the Board on 1 June 2015 and will perform a dual role, as both a member of the Board and 
COO. He will not receive any additional remuneration in respect of his appointment to the Board. His salary for his role as COO will 
continue to be £350,000p.a.

The Chairman and Non-Executive Director fees remain unchanged from last year. Fees for FY16 are therefore as follows:

FY16 fees Chairman

Non-Executive 
Director 

Basic fee

Senior 
Independent 

Director

Audit 
Committee 

Chairman

Remuneration 
Committee 

Chairman

Fees £250,000 £50,000 £10,000 £15,000 £10,000

Benefits
Executives will be eligible to receive selected benefits including life insurance, private medical care, income protection and critical illness 
cover. In line with the remuneration policy, the COO receives an expatriate allowance of £50,000p.a. paid in monthly instalments while 
he is based in Ireland. In addition, as an Irish employee, his income is adjusted for GBP/EUR foreign exchange movements and for 
personal tax differences to ensure he is no worse off from a net of tax perspective than if he was employed in the UK.

To the extent that any expenses relating to the performance of a Director’s duties in carrying out business-related activities such as 
travel are classified as taxable expenses, these expenses will be reimbursed by the Company together with any associated personal 
tax liabilities.

Pension
Executive Directors are entitled to a defined contribution or cash supplement in lieu to the value of 15% for the CEO and 10% of salary 
for the CFO and COO respectively.

Annual bonus – Annual Cash Incentive Plan and Deferred Share Incentive Plan
The annual bonus will operate in a broadly similar manner to the year ended 30 April 2015. The maximum bonus will remain as 
180% of salary, with two-thirds of any bonus payable in cash (ACIP) and the remaining one-third deferred into Group shares (DSIP). 
Any deferred shares will vest 50% after one year and 50% after two years from the date of grant, subject to continued employment. 
Dividends may be paid on any vested DSIP shares.

Clawback provisions will apply on DSIP awards for reasons of misstatement, miscalculation or misconduct within two years of the date 
of grant.

The Committee reviews the performance measures and targets on an annual basis to ensure they remain appropriately aligned to the 
overall business strategy but do not encourage excessive risk taking.

The performance measures for the FY16 annual bonus are as follows:

Element Weighting % of salary

Revenue 44.5% 80%

EBITDA 44.5% 80%

Personal 11% 20%

Total 100% 180%

The Committee has chosen not to disclose, in advance, the performance targets for the forthcoming year, as these include items which 
the Committee considers commercially sensitive. The Committee intends to provide retrospective disclosure of certain performance 
measures in next year’s Annual Report on Remuneration, to the extent that the Committee determines that the measures are no longer 
commercially sensitive.
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Long Term Incentive Plan
The Committee intends to make an annual award of nil-cost options under the LTIP at 300% of salary for the CEO and 200% of 
salary for the CFO and COO during FY16. Vested awards will be eligible to receive dividend equivalents and awards will be subject to 
clawback provisions for reasons of misstatement, miscalculation or misconduct within two years of vesting.

The Committee has reviewed the performance measures and targets for the prospective award and determined that no changes 
are required to the balance of metrics used for the 2014 award. Therefore, the performance conditions for the 2015 award will be 
as follows:

EPS condition (50% of award)
EPS for FY181 Shares vesting (as % of number relating to EPS performance condition)

Less than 94.4 pence Nil

94.4 pence 25%

Between 94.4 pence and 111 pence Between 25% and 100% (on a straight-line basis)

111 pence or higher 100%

1	 New point of consumption gaming taxes were introduced in the UK in December 2014. If these taxes had been applicable for the whole of FY15, Betfair would 
have incurred additional costs of £28m, significantly reducing EPS. Taking this into account, vesting at 100% would require a 26% CAGR in EPS over the 
measurement period. 

TSR condition (25% of award)
Relative TSR performance comparing Betfair’s ranking against the FTSE 250 constituents excluding Investment Trusts:

Relative TSR performance Shares vesting (as % of number relating to relative TSR performance condition)

Below median of index Nil

At median of index 25%

Between median and upper quartile of the index Between 25% and 100% (on a straight-line basis)

At the upper quartile of the index or above 100%

Group Revenue target (25% of award)
Group Revenue for FY18 Shares vesting (as % of number relating to Group Revenue performance condition)

Less than £580m Nil

£580m 25%

Between £580m and £628m Between 25% and 100% (on a straight-line basis)

£628m or higher 100%

In addition to the three performance targets detailed above, an underpin will also apply which will enable the Remuneration Committee 
to change the vesting result based on the above performance targets if it does not consider the Company’s underlying financial 
performance to reflect the proposed level of vesting. These performance targets will be reviewed by the Committee at the end of the 
three-year performance period.

SAYE
Executives will be eligible to participate on the same terms as all other UK employees if an invitation to enter a savings contract is 
offered during the year.

Approved by the Board of Directors and signed on its behalf by:

Leo Quinn
Chairman of the Remuneration Committee 
17 June 2015

DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION REPORT:
ANNUAL REPORT ON REMUNERATION
CONTINUED
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT

The Directors present their Report and the audited consolidated financial statements of the Company and its subsidiaries for the 
year ended 30 April 2015.
The Directors’ Report should be read in conjunction with the other sections of this Annual Report: the Strategic Report, Corporate 
Responsibility Report and the Directors’ Remuneration Report, all of which are incorporated into this Directors’ Report by reference. 
The following also form part of this report:

•	 greenhouse gas emissions, set out on page 33;

•	 the reports on corporate governance set out on pages 36 to 47;

•	 information relating to financial instruments, as provided in the notes to the financial statements;

•	 related party transactions as set out in the notes to the financial statements; and

•	 other information required to be included by reference, pursuant to LR 9.8.4R

Annual Report and Accounts
The Directors are aware of the responsibilities in respect of the Annual Report. The Directors consider that the Annual Report, 
taken as a whole, is fair, balanced and understandable and provides the information necessary for shareholders to assess the Group’s 
performance, business model and strategy. The Statement of Directors’ Responsibilities appears on page 76.

Directors
Details of the Directors as at 30 April 2015, the Board composition and any changes since the end of the year are detailed in full in the 
Corporate Governance Statement on page 39.

All of the Directors stand for re-election as Directors at the Annual General Meeting (AGM). Further details can be found in the Notice 
of Meeting which is enclosed with these financial statements.

Articles of Association
The Articles of Association were amended by special resolution at a general meeting of shareholders on 9 January 2015. 
No amendments are proposed to be made to the existing articles at the 2015 AGM.

Directors’ indemnity
As permitted by the Articles of Association the Directors have the benefit of an indemnity which is a qualifying third party indemnity 
provision as defined by section 234 of the Companies Act 2006. The indemnity was in force throughout the last financial year, and 
remains in force. The Company also purchased, and maintained throughout the financial year, Directors’ and Officers’ Liability insurance 
in respect of itself and its Directors.

Corporate Governance Statement
The Corporate Governance Statement is made in accordance with DTR 7 and the Corporate Governance Code as issued by the 
Financial Reporting Council in 2012. The Financial Reporting Council issued the Corporate Governance Code 2014 to apply to 
accounting periods commencing on or after 1 October 2014 and as such does not apply for this financial year.

Employees
The responsibility for formulating, implementing and ensuring adherence to employment policies and relevant legislation falls under 
the remit of Human Resources. The Group fully supports the principle of equal opportunity for all employees and opposes all forms 
of discrimination and has policies to ensure it meets its legal obligations. It is also Group policy to give full and fair consideration to the 
recruitment of disabled persons, and to provide such persons with the same training, career development and promotion opportunities 
as other employees. In the event of employees becoming disabled, every effort is made to ensure that their employment within the 
Group continues and that appropriate training is provided.

The Group believes in open and continuous communications as an important part of the employee engagement process. The Group 
has an intranet and various internal communication channels for informing employees about financial results, business development and 
other news concerning Betfair and its people.

Further information can be found on page 30 in the Corporate Responsibility Report.

Related party transactions
Internal controls are in place to ensure that any related party transactions involving Directors or their connected persons are carried out 
on an arm’s length basis and are disclosed in the financial statements.

Dividends
The Company declared an interim dividend on 4 December 2014 of 9.0 pence (2014: 6.0 pence) per share which was paid on 
16 January 2015. A waiver was in place in respect of 672,682 (2014: 770,238) shares held in the Company’s employee benefit trust for 
the interim dividend.

The Company has declared that a final dividend of 25.0 pence (2014: 14.0 pence) per share will be paid in respect of the year ended 
30 April 2015. This will be paid on 9 October 2015 to all shareholders on the register on 11 September 2015. A dividend waiver is in 
place in respect of the shares held in the Company’s employee benefit trust as at the record date (2014: 597,171). 
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT
CONTINUED

Share capital
At the start of the financial year, the Company had a single class of ordinary shares in issue, with a nominal value of £0.001 per share. 
During the year, at a General Meeting held on 9 January 2015, members voted in favour of the Company’s proposals to return £1.89 
per ordinary share to shareholders by way of a B share scheme followed by a seven for eight share consolidation. This share capital 
reorganisation was effective and the shares were admitted to trading on the London Stock Exchange from 12 January 2015. Full details 
of the B share scheme and share capital consolidation were set out in a circular to shareholders dated 9 December 2014 which is 
available on the Company’s website at corporate.betfair.com. 

As at 30 April 2015 and the date of this report, the Company has a single class of shares in issue divided into ordinary shares of 
£0.00095 each. As at 30 April 2015 the Company’s issued share capital was 92,603,251.

The ordinary shares carry the right to the profits of the Company available for distribution and to the return of capital on a winding 
up of the Company. The ordinary shares carry the right to attend and speak at general meetings of the Company; each share 
holds the right to one vote. At 30 April 2015 there were no shares held in treasury and the Company’s employee benefit trust held 
429,471 shares.

Authority to purchase shares
The Company currently has the authority to purchase a maximum of 10,503,988 of its own shares. No purchases were made during 
the year. This authority will expire at the close of the 2015 AGM.

Major shareholdings
As at 30 April 2015, the Company had been notified, in accordance with DTR Rule 5 of the UK Listing Authority, of the following major 
shareholdings in the ordinary share capital of the Company:

Number 
of shares 

held

Percentage 
of issued  

shares

Mr Edward Wray 8,825,545 9.53

Le Peigne SA 8,548,551 9.23

AXA Framlington Investment Managers 6,960,412 7.52

MFS Investment Management 6,728,308 7.27

Marathon Asset Management 4,451,427 4.81

Kames Capital 4,101,673 4.43

BlackRock 3,280,841 3.54

The Company has not been notified of any changes to the above shareholdings between 30 April 2015 and the date of this report.

In addition to the above, the Company was notified on 18 February 2015 of a derivative position of 5.70% held by Parvus Asset 
Management via equity swap. Parvus has no voting rights over the shares and no option to acquire the shares or the voting rights 
attributable to them. At the date of this report, this shareholding was 5.62%. The Company has not been notified of any changes to 
this shareholding between 31 May 2015 and the date of this report.

Share transfer restrictions
There are no restrictions on the transfer of shares in the Company.

Annual General Meeting
The Notice convening the AGM to be held on 9 September 2015 is contained in a circular sent out to shareholders with this Report. 
The Notice of Meeting contains full details of the resolutions that will be put to shareholders.

Political donations
At the 2014 AGM, shareholders passed a resolution to authorise the Group to make political donations and/or incur political 
expenditure (as such terms are defined in sections 362 to 379 of the Companies Act 2006), in each case in amounts not exceeding 
£50,000 in aggregate. As the authority granted will expire on 9 September 2015, renewal of this authority will be sought at this year’s 
AGM. Further details are available in the Notice of AGM. The definitions of political donations and political expenditure used in the 
Companies Act 2006 are broad in nature and this authority is sought to ensure that any activities undertaken by the entities within the 
Group, which could otherwise be construed to fall within these provisions, can be undertaken without inadvertently infringing them.

During the year and the previous year, the Group made no EU political donations.

In accordance with applicable US state and federal laws, the Group has made £21,905 (2014: £28,165) of contributions to 
support candidates for nomination and/or election to public office. The Group has fully complied with jurisdictional reporting of 
these contributions and such contributions in the US are accepted normal business practice. Betfair is committed to working with 
governments in the EU, US and other jurisdictions in which it operates.
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Contractual arrangements
The Group has contractual arrangements with numerous third parties in support of its business activities. In that context, disclosure 
in this Report of information about any of those third parties is not considered necessary for an understanding of the development, 
performance or position of the Group’s businesses.

Significant agreements – change of control provisions
There are no significant agreements which contain provisions entitling other parties to exercise termination or other rights in the event 
of a change in control of the Company.

The rules of certain of the Company’s share plans include provisions which apply in the event of a takeover or reconstruction.

Going concern, responsibilities and disclosure
The current activities of the Group and those factors likely to affect its future development, together with a description of its financial 
position, are described in the Strategic Report. Principal risks and uncertainties affecting the Group, and the steps taken to mitigate 
these risks are described in the Principal Risks and Uncertainties section of the Strategic Report. Critical accounting estimates affecting 
the carrying values of assets and liabilities of the Group are discussed in note 1 to the financial statements.

After making appropriate enquiries, the Directors have a reasonable expectation that the Company and the Group have adequate 
resources to continue in operational existence for the foreseeable future. In making this assessment, the Directors considered the going 
concern status for a period of at least 12 months from the date of signing this report. For this reason, they continue to adopt the going 
concern basis in preparing the financial statements.

Funding and liquidity risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will not be able to meet its financial obligations as they fall due. The Group’s approach to 
managing liquidity is to ensure, as far as possible, that it will always have sufficient liquidity to meet its liabilities when due, under both 
normal and stressed conditions, without incurring unacceptable losses or risking damage to the Group’s reputation. The Group also 
spreads its cash reserves across several highly rated banks and investments to mitigate counterparty risks. The Group performs regular 
cash flow projections to ensure that it has sufficient cash on demand to meet expected operational expenses for a period of at least 90 
days. The Group has no committed lines of credit.

Auditors
KPMG LLP have expressed their willingness to be reappointed as auditor of the Company. A resolution to reappoint KPMG LLP as the 
Company’s auditor will be proposed at the forthcoming AGM.

Disclosure of information to auditors
Each of the Directors who held office at the date of approval of the Directors’ Report confirms that:

•	 so far as they are aware, there is no relevant audit information of which the Company’s auditors are unaware; and

•	 that they have taken all steps that they ought to have taken as a Director to make them aware of any relevant audit information and 
to establish that the Company’s auditors are aware of that information.

Other information required to be included by reference
For the purposes of compliance with LR 9.8.4R, the following information is included by reference within the Directors’ Report:

Listing Rule (LR) Requirement Location within Annual Report 

LR 9.8.6R(1) Directors’ interests Directors’ Remuneration Report, pages 53–72

LR 9.8.6R(2) Major shareholders’ interests Directors’ Report, page 74

LR 9.8.3R Details of long-term incentive schemes Directors’ Remuneration Report, pages 53–72

LR 9.8.6R(4)(a) Purchase of own shares Directors’ Report, page 74

By order of the Board

Alexander Gersh 
Director
17 June 2015

Registered office 
Betfair Group plc  
Waterfront, Hammersmith Embankment 
Chancellors Road (access on Winslow Road)  
London W6 9HP 
United Kingdom
Registered number 6489716
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STATEMENT OF DIRECTORS’ 
RESPONSIBILITIES IN RESPECT OF 
THE ANNUAL REPORT AND THE 
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
The Directors are responsible for preparing the Annual Report and the Group and Parent financial statements in accordance with 
applicable law and regulations.

Company law requires the Directors to prepare Group and Parent financial statements for each financial year. Under that law they are 
required to prepare the Group financial statements in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) as adopted by 
the European Union (EU) and applicable law, and have elected to prepare the Parent Company financial statements in accordance with 
UK accounting standards and applicable law (UK Generally Accepted Accounting Practice).

Under company law the Directors must not approve the financial statements unless they are satisfied that they give a true and fair view 
of the state of affairs of the Group and Parent Company and of their profit or loss for that period. In preparing each of the Group and 
Parent financial statements, the Directors are required to:

•	 select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently;

•	 make judgments and estimates that are reasonable and prudent;

•	 for the Group financial statements, state whether they have been prepared in accordance with IFRSs as adopted by the EU;

•	 for the Parent Company financial statements, state whether applicable UK Accounting Standards have been followed, subject to any 
material departures disclosed and explained in the Parent Company financial statements; and

•	 prepare the financial statements on the going concern basis unless it is inappropriate to presume that the Group and the Parent 
Company will continue in business.

The Directors are responsible for keeping adequate accounting records that are sufficient to show and explain the Parent Company’s 
transactions and disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the financial position of the Parent Company and enable them to 
ensure that its financial statements comply with the Companies Act 2006. They have general responsibility for taking such steps 
as are reasonably open to them to safeguard the assets of the Group and to prevent and detect fraud and other irregularities. 
Under applicable law and regulations, the Directors are also responsible for preparing a Strategic Report, Directors’ Report, Directors’ 
Remuneration Report and Corporate Governance Statement that complies with that law and those regulations.

The Directors are responsible for the maintenance and integrity of the corporate and financial information included on the Company’s 
website. Legislation in the UK governing the preparation and dissemination of financial statements may differ from legislation in 
other jurisdictions.

Responsibility statement of the Directors in respect of the Annual Report
Each of the Directors, whose names and functions are listed on page 39 of this Annual Report, confirm that, to the best of each 
person’s knowledge and belief:

•	 the financial statements, prepared in accordance with the applicable set of accounting standards, give a true and fair view of the 
assets, liabilities, financial position and profit or loss of the Company and the undertakings included in the consolidation taken as 
a whole; 

•	 the management report, which comprises the Strategic Report and the Directors’ Report includes a fair review of the development 
and performance of the business and the position of the Company and the undertakings included in the consolidation taken as a 
whole, together with a description of the principal risks and uncertainties that they face; and

•	 the Annual Report and Accounts, taken as a whole, is fair, balanced and understandable and provides the information necessary for 
shareholders to assess the Company’s performance, business model and strategy.

By order of the Board of Betfair Group plc

Alexander Gersh 
Director

Compliance statement
This review has been prepared in accordance with section 417 of the Companies Act 2006. The review’s intent is to provide information 
to shareholders and stakeholders. It should not be relied upon by any other party or for any other purpose.

Where this review contains forward-looking statements, these are made in good faith based on the information available at the 
time of this report. These statements should be treated with caution due to the inherent uncertainties underlying any such forward-
looking information.

Other information
Additional financial and non-financial information, including press releases, can be accessed on our website, corporate.betfair.com.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
TO THE MEMBERS OF BETFAIR GROUP PLC ONLY

Opinions and conclusions arising from our audit
1 Our opinion on the financial statements is unmodified
We have audited the financial statements of Betfair Group plc for the year ended 30 April 2015 set out on pages 81 to 121. 
In our opinion:

•	 the financial statements give a true and fair view of the state of the Group’s and of the Parent Company’s affairs as at 30 April 2015 
and of the Group’s profit for the year then ended;

•	 the Group financial statements have been properly prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards as adopted 
by the European Union;

•	 the Parent Company financial statements have been properly prepared in accordance with UK Accounting Standards; and 

•	 the financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006; and, as regards the 
Group financial statements, Article 4 of the IAS Regulation.

2 Our assessment of risks of material misstatement
In arriving at our audit opinion above on the financial statements the risks of material misstatement that had the greatest effect on our 
audit were as follows:

Revenue recognition (£476.5m)
Refer to page 45 (Audit Committee Report), page 92 (Accounting policies) and pages 95, 96 and 106 (financial disclosures).

•	 �The risk – The recognition of commission revenues or revenues from winning and losing bets may be misstated. 

The appropriate recognition of revenue is dependent on IT systems correctly calculating commission revenues and appropriate wins 
and losses and customer funds and core finance processes and controls accurately reporting on and reconciling these transactions. 

Revenue streams for the vast majority of the Group’s products are computed on highly complex IT systems, with a number of different 
bases for calculating revenue. There are in excess of one billion transactions each year, all requiring a correct IT outcome. There is a 
risk that a system may not be configured correctly from the outset such that commissions or winning and losing bets are calculated 
incorrectly, that the systems do not interface correctly from the customer facing systems through to the financial information systems 
and that unauthorised changes may be made to any of these systems, which may result in the misstatement of revenue. 

The calculation of revenue from the IT systems links directly to the reconciliation of funds between customer and corporate accounts 
and as such customer funds must be appropriately managed and safeguarded. There is a risk that commissions or winning and losing 
bets are not calculated correctly and consequently a risk that the revenue to be transferred from the customer accounts in the  
ring-fenced trust to Betfair corporate accounts could be misstated. 

•	 �Our response – Our audit procedures included, among others, the use of IT audit experts throughout the audit process. We critically 
assessed the design and operating effectiveness of IT controls and tested that the systems are configured appropriately. We traced 
bets placed on live betting environments from the customer facing systems to the data centre and then from the data warehouse to 
the financial information systems to ensure that information is passed appropriately from one system to another. We tested controls 
over the capture of initial bets, their allocation between different products and their processing through the system to recognition 
in revenue or in the appropriate customer account. We also tested the configuration of the system which monitors the information 
transfer between key IT systems and evaluated whether it was operating effectively. 

Data on a sample of different types of bets placed by customers in different markets was extracted from the systems. Commission rate 
calculations were re-performed to assess the completeness and accuracy of commissions and revenues from winning bets. 

We tested controls related to access to programs and data, program change and development and computer operations by evaluating 
account set-up and termination for users, password restrictions, access reviews, users with super-user access, program change and 
development process controls and integration monitoring, and tested whether any unauthorised changes had been made to the 
system. The overall IT environment was critically assessed, including security policies and procedures, IT organisational structure, 
strategy and reporting, disaster recovery and back-up testing. 

We tested processes and controls over customer account set-up and cash deposits and withdrawals from customer accounts. 
We verified customer bank balances to third-party information and tested the reconciliation of these bank balances to Betfair 
customers’ betting accounts. 

We have also considered the adequacy of the Group’s disclosures in respect of revenue recognition.

Valuation of tax liabilities
Refer to page 45 (Audit Committee Report), pages 93 and 94 (Accounting policies) and pages 106 and 117 (financial disclosures). 

•	 	The risk – The online gaming regulatory environment is complex and constantly changing. Some markets are highly regulated, while 
in other markets, online gaming regulation is not yet formed or is unclear. Betfair organises its operations in different jurisdictions in a 
way which requires the Directors to exercise a level of judgment surrounding the interpretation of international tax laws and the way 
in which they interact within each jurisdiction. This may result in significant provisions or contingent liabilities for gaming and other 
indirect taxes in countries where the tax and/or other regulations are not yet formed or are unclear, the volatility of which could have 
a significant impact on the financial statements, particularly if there is a retrospective element applied to taxes. Where tax regulations 
are formalised in certain jurisdictions, Betfair must adhere to the operating guidelines within these jurisdictions, such that taxes do not 
become payable elsewhere, which would result in current tax provisions being understated. 
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In addition to gaming taxes, the Directors must make judgments in relation to international income tax laws including transfer pricing and 
controlled foreign companies. 

•	 Our response – Our audit procedures included, among others, challenging the Directors and the Group’s in-house lawyers in order 
to understand and critically assess the procedures that the Group has in place to comply with regulations in different jurisdictions. 
We used KPMG’s wider understanding of the regulatory markets to challenge the Directors and critically assessed the Group’s exposure 
to taxation. We examined correspondence with regulators during the year and evaluated the Group’s taxation position, working with 
KPMG tax specialists to test gaming taxes, indirect taxes and income taxes. 

We also considered the adequacy of the disclosures in respect of tax and uncertain tax positions. 

Acquisition Accounting 
Refer to page 45 (Audit Committee Report), pages 87, 89 and 90 (Accounting policies) and pages 101 and 116 (financial disclosures). 

•	 The risk: During the current financial year the Group has acquired the HRTV horseracing broadcasting network along with long-term 
broadcasting and wagering rights to certain racecourses for an aggregate purchase consideration consisting of: an initial payment of 
$25.6 million and an estimated further deferred and contingent consideration totalling $30.9 million payable over a seven year period, 
which is in part dependent on future trading. 

The terms of the agreements require judgment to be exercised by the Directors in assessing control, and in identifying any contractual 
arrangements entered into that are required to be accounted for separately to the acquisitions. 

The Directors have exercised judgment in determining that the broadcasting and wagering rights acquired as part of the transaction, 
but external to the HRTV legal entity, form an integrated set of activities and assets and therefore are treated as part of the business 
combination for accounting purposes. In particular, this judgment results in the recognition of a larger balance sheet liability in respect 
of contingent consideration, and the recognition of a larger amount for goodwill than if an alternative accounting treatment as an asset 
purchase had been adopted, as well as a differing accounting treatment in relation to transaction costs. In aggregate, the differences 
between the feasible accounting treatments have had a material effect on the Group’s financial statements. In accounting for the 
business combination, the amount derived in arriving at the fair value of the broadcasting and wagering rights acquired is sensitive to 
the underlying assumptions around forecast future cash flows over the seven year initial term of the agreements, and the discount rate 
applied in its valuation. The fair value of these rights used in the business combination accounting amount to $48.3 million out of the 
total $49.8 million net assets acquired. 

•	 Our response: In this area our audit procedures included, amongst others, understanding the key terms and rationale for the 
transaction through inspection of purchase agreements, Board minutes and discussions with the Directors. We challenged the judgment 
taken to account for the assets acquired as a business combination, and inspected the agreements for terms that may impact the 
assessment of control. 

Using our own valuation specialists to the extent necessary, we inspected the Group’s valuation analysis prepared by the Directors, 
which was the basis for the determination of the fair value of the intangible assets used in the business combination accounting. 
We critically challenged the key assumptions within, and in particular evaluated the reasonableness of assumptions underlying the 
future trading forecasts of the combined TVG and HRTV operations, growth rates and the discount rate applied. In performing this 
assessment we had regard to the performance of the existing TVG business, and historical accuracy of the Directors’ forecasts. 

We also assessed whether the Group’s disclosures regarding the acquisition and the estimation required are appropriate and comply 
with those required by the relevant accounting standards. 

3 Our application of materiality and an overview of the scope of our audit
The materiality for the Group financial statements as a whole was set at £3.5 million, determined with reference to a benchmark of 
Group profit before tax (of which it represents 3.5%). 

We report to the Audit Committee any uncorrected misstatements we identified through our audit exceeding £175,000; in addition to 
other audit misstatements we believed warranted reporting on qualitative grounds. In addition we considered whether any misstatements 
corrected by management identified during the course of the audit should be communicated to the Audit Committee to assist it in 
fulfilling its governance responsibilities. 

The audits of three components for Group reporting purposes were performed by component auditors in Malta. The Group audit team 
performed the audit over Betfair Group, including components in the UK, Ireland and Gibraltar, and consolidation type adjustments in the 
UK. These Group procedures covered 87% of Group revenue, 93% of the total profits and losses that made up Group profit before tax 
and 96% of the Group net asset and liabilities. 

For the remaining components (Betfair US, Portugal, Spain, Italy, Romania and Hong Kong) we performed analysis at an aggregated 
group level to re-examine our assessment that there were no significant risks of material misstatement within these.

The audits undertaken for Group reporting purposes at the reporting components of the Group in Malta were all performed to 
materiality levels set by, or agreed with, the Group audit team. These materiality levels were set individually for each component, ranging 
between £0.1 million and £3.0 million, having regard to the mix of size and risk profile of the Group across the components.

Detailed instructions were sent to component auditors, which covered the significant areas that should be covered by the audit 
engagements (which included the relevant risks of material misstatement detailed above) and set out the information required to be 
reported back to the Group audit team. 



INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
TO THE MEMBERS OF BETFAIR GROUP PLC ONLY
CONTINUED

The Group audit team visited Malta, including to assess the audit risk and strategy, and telephone meetings were also held with the 
component auditors throughout the year. At these visits and meetings, the Group audit team also discussed the findings reported in 
more detail and assessed the adequacy of the work performed by the component auditors.

4 Our opinion on other matters prescribed by the Companies Act 2006 is unmodified
In our opinion:

•	 the part of the Directors’ Remuneration Report to be audited has been properly prepared in accordance with the Companies Act 
2006; and

•	 the information given in the Strategic Report and the Directors’ Report for the financial year for which the financial statements are 
prepared is consistent with the financial statements.

5 We have nothing to report in respect of the matters on which we are required to report by exception
Under ISAs (UK and Ireland) we are required to report to you if, based on the knowledge we acquired during our audit, we have 
identified other information in the annual report that contains a material inconsistency with either that knowledge or the financial 
statements, a material misstatement of fact, or that is otherwise misleading. 

In particular, we are required to report to you if: 

•	 we have identified material inconsistencies between the knowledge we acquired during our audit and the Directors’ statement that 
they consider that the Annual Report and financial statements taken as a whole is fair, balanced and understandable and provides the 
information necessary for shareholders to assess the Group’s performance, business model and strategy; or

•	 the Report of the Audit Committee on pages 43 to 52 does not appropriately address matters communicated by us to the 
Audit Committee.

Under the Companies Act 2006 we are required to report to you if, in our opinion:

•	 adequate accounting records have not been kept by the Parent Company, or returns adequate for our audit have not been received 
from branches not visited by us; or

•	 the Parent Company financial statements and the part of the Directors’ Remuneration Report to be audited are not in agreement with 
the accounting records and returns; or

•	 certain disclosures of Directors’ remuneration specified by law are not made; or

•	 we have not received all the information and explanations we require for our audit.

Under the Listing Rules we are required to review:

•	 the Directors’ statement, set out on page 75, in relation to going concern; and

•	 the part of the Corporate Governance Statement on page 36 in the Annual Report and Accounts relating to the Company’s 
compliance with the ten provisions of the 2012 UK Corporate Governance Code specified for our review.

We have nothing to report in respect of the above responsibilities.

Scope of report and responsibilities
As explained more fully in the Directors’ Responsibilities Statement set out on page 76, the Directors are responsible for the preparation 
of the financial statements and for being satisfied that they give a true and fair view. A description of the scope of an audit of financial 
statements is provided on the Financial Reporting Council’s website at www.frc.org.uk/auditscopeukprivate. This report is made solely to 
the Company’s members as a body and is subject to important explanations and disclaimers regarding our responsibilities, published on 
our website at www.kpmg.com/uk/auditscopeukco2014a, which are incorporated into this report as if set out in full and should be read 
to provide an understanding of the purpose of this report, the work we have undertaken and the basis of our opinions. 

Michael Harper (Senior Statutory Auditor)
for and on behalf of KPMG LLP, Statutory Auditor  
Chartered Accountants  
15 Canada Square  
London, E14 5GL 

17 June 2015
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CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 APRIL 2015

Note
2015 

£m
2014 

£m

Continuing operations

Revenue 2 476.5 393.6

Cost of sales (90.6) (50.9)

Gross profit 385.9 342.7

Administrative expenses (291.6) (281.1)

Group operating profit 94.3 61.6

Analysed as:

EBITDA* 2 120.2 91.1

Depreciation and amortisation 8, 9 (25.9) (29.5)

Group operating profit 94.3 61.6

Finance income 5 1.1 1.1

Finance expense 5 (0.7) (0.4)

Net finance income 0.4 0.7

Profit on disposal of joint venture 10 6.4 –

Share of profit/(loss) of equity accounted investments 10 0.1 (1.2)

Profit before tax 101.2 61.1

Tax 6 (14.8) (10.1)

Profit for the year 86.4 51.0

Attributable to:

Equity holders of the Company 86.4 51.0

Non-controlling interest 10 – –

Profit for the year 86.4 51.0

Earnings per share

Basic 7 85.9p 49.0p

Diluted 7 83.7p 48.1p

*	EBITDA is defined as profit for the year before net finance income, tax, depreciation and amortisation. It excludes amounts in respect of the Group’s equity accounted 
investments and is considered by the Directors to be a key measure of its financial performance.



FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT  
OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 APRIL 2015

2015 
£m

2014 
£m

Profit for the year 86.4 51.0

Other comprehensive income/(expense)

Items that will be reclassified to profit or loss:

Foreign exchange differences arising on consolidation 1.4 (4.0)

Reclassification to profit or loss 0.1 –

Other comprehensive income/(expense) for the year, net of income tax 1.5 (4.0)

Total comprehensive income for the year 87.9 47.0

Attributable to:

Equity holders of the Company 87.9 47.0

Non-controlling interest – –

Total comprehensive income for the year 87.9 47.0
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CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET
AS AT 30 APRIL 2015

Note
2015 

£m
2014 

£m

Assets

Non-current assets

Property, plant and equipment 8 14.8 16.7

Goodwill and other intangible assets 9 83.2 49.3

Investments 10 0.1 5.5

Available-for-sale financial assets 11 1.3 1.3

Deferred tax assets 12 4.2 3.9

103.6 76.7

Current assets

Trade and other receivables 13 23.3 23.0

Cash and cash equivalents 14 105.1 209.8

128.4 232.8

Total assets 232.0 309.5

Liabilities

Current liabilities

Trade and other payables 15 128.1 111.8

Tax payable 29.5 24.4

Provisions 16 5.1 1.2

162.7 137.4

Non-current liabilities

Trade and other payables 15 19.5 –

Provisions 16 0.4 0.7

Total liabilities 182.6 138.1

Net assets 49.4 171.4

Equity

Share capital 17 0.1 0.1

Share premium 5.3 21.9

Other reserves (9.0) (11.4)

Retained earnings 53.0 160.8

Equity attributable to equity holders of the Company 49.4 171.4

Non-controlling interest 10 – –

Total equity 49.4 171.4

These financial statements were approved by the Board of Directors on 17 June 2015 and were signed on its behalf by:

Breon Corcoran 					     Alexander Gersh
Chief Executive Officer 				    Chief Financial Officer



FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT  
OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 APRIL 2015  
ATTRIBUTABLE TO EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE COMPANY

 

Share
capital

£m

Share
premium

£m

Other
reserves

£m

Foreign
currency

translation
reserve

£m

Retained
earnings

£m

Total
parent
equity

£m

Non-
controlling

interest
£m

Total
equity

£m

Balance at 1 May 2013 0.1 19.4 0.9 (8.5) 120.1 132.0 – 132.0
Comprehensive income/(expense)
  for the year

Profit for the year – – – – 51.0 51.0 – 51.0

Other comprehensive expense – – – (4.0) – (4.0) – (4.0)
Total comprehensive
  income /(expense) for the year – – – (4.0) 51.0 47.0 – 47.0
Transactions with owners, recorded
  directly in equity

Issue of shares – 2.5 – – – 2.5 – 2.5

Dividend paid – – – – (15.6) (15.6) – (15.6)

Equity-settled share-based payments – – – – 6.5 6.5 – 6.5

Sale of own shares by the EBT* – – – – 1.7 1.7 – 1.7

Purchase of own shares by the EBT* – – – – (2.9) (2.9) – (2.9)
Tax on equity-settled
  share‑based payments – – 0.2 – – 0.2 – 0.2

Total transactions with owners – 2.5 0.2 – (10.3) (7.6) – (7.6)

Balance at 30 April 2014 0.1 21.9 1.1 (12.5) 160.8 171.4 – 171.4

Balance at 1 May 2014 0.1 21.9 1.1 (12.5) 160.8 171.4 – 171.4
Comprehensive income
  for the year

Profit for the year – – – – 86.4 86.4 – 86.4

Other comprehensive income – – – 1.5 – 1.5 – 1.5
Total comprehensive
  income for the year – – – 1.5 86.4 87.9 – 87.9
Transactions with owners, recorded
  directly in equity

Issue of shares – 5.6 – – – 5.6 – 5.6

Share premium cancellation** – (22.2) – – 22.2 – – –

Capital reduction*** – – – – – – – –

Dividend paid – – – – (24.1) (24.1) – (24.1)
Return of capital to shareholders 
   including fees and duty *** – – – – (200.7) (200.7) – (200.7)

Equity-settled share-based payments – – – – 9.2 9.2 – 9.2

Sale of own shares by the EBT* – – – – 4.4 4.4 – 4.4

Purchase of own shares by the EBT* – – – – (5.2) (5.2) – (5.2)
Tax on equity-settled share-based
  payments – – 0.9 – – 0.9 – 0.9

Total transactions with owners – (16.6) 0.9 – (194.2) (209.9) – (209.9)

Balance at 30 April 2015 0.1 5.3 2.0 (11.0) 53.0 49.4 – 49.4
*	 Employee Benefit Trust is defined as EBT.
**	 Following shareholder approval at the Annual General Meeting on 4 September 2014 and court approval on 8 October 2014, the Company cancelled its share premium 

account, transferring £22.2m to the retained earnings account within reserves.
***	During the year the Group returned £200.7m of cash to shareholders, including fees and duty. See note 25 for further details.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF 
CASH FLOW
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 APRIL 2015

Note
2015 

£m
2014 

£m

Cash flows from operating activities

Profit for the year 86.4 51.0

Adjustments for:

Depreciation and amortisation 8, 9 25.9 29.5

Equity-settled share-based payments and associated costs 18 10.4 7.3

Profit on disposal of joint venture 10 (6.4) –

Share of (profit)/loss of equity accounted investments 10 (0.1) 1.2

Net finance income 5 (0.4) (0.7)

Tax 6 14.8 10.1

Increase in trade and other receivables (0.7) (4.4)

Increase in trade and other payables 13.6 2.4

Increase/(decrease) in provisions 16 3.6 (11.3)

Cash generated from operations 147.1 85.1

Tax paid (8.0) (5.6)

Net cash flows generated from operating activities 139.1 79.5

Cash flows from investing activities

Acquisition of business combination, net of cash received 23 (16.6) –

Acquisition of property, plant and equipment 8 (6.3) (8.5)

Acquisition of other intangible assets 9 (6.9) (6.5)

Capitalised internal development expenditure 9 (6.6) (7.4)

Cash received on disposal of joint venture 10 5.5 –

Cash received from repayment of joint venture loan 10 6.5 –

Finance income received 1.1 0.9

Net cash flows used in investing activities (23.3) (21.5)

Cash flows from financing activities

Proceeds from the issue of share capital 17 5.6 2.5

Dividends paid 25 (24.1) (15.6)

Return of capital to shareholders, including fees and duty 25 (200.7) –

Purchase of own shares by the EBT (5.2) (2.9)

Sale of own shares by the EBT 4.4 1.7

Net cash flows used in financing activities (220.0) (14.3)

Net (decrease)/increase in cash and cash equivalents (104.2) 43.7

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year 14 209.8 168.1

Effect of exchange rate fluctuations on cash held (0.5) (2.0)

Cash and cash equivalents at year end 14 105.1 209.8



FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

NOTES
(FORMING PART OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS)

1 Accounting policies
Reporting entity
Betfair Group plc (the “Company”) is a company incorporated and domiciled in the UK.

The consolidated financial statements of the Company as at and for the year ended 30 April 2015 comprise the Company and its 
subsidiaries (together referred to as the “Group”) and the Group’s interest in jointly controlled entities. The Group is involved in the 
provision of betting services and online gaming products. The Parent Company financial statements present information about the 
Company as a separate entity and not about its Group.

The consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year ended 30 April 2015 were authorised for issue in accordance with a 
resolution of the Directors on 17 June 2015.

Basis of preparation
The consolidated financial statements of the Group have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards 
(IFRSs) as adopted for use in the European Union. The Company has elected to prepare its Parent Company financial statements in 
accordance with UK GAAP; these are presented on pages 118 to 120.

The consolidated financial statements of the Group have been prepared on the historical cost basis except for the following:

•	 derivative financial instruments are measured at fair value; and

•	 financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss are measured at fair value.

Going concern
The Group has considerable financial resources. As a consequence, the Directors believe that the Group is well placed to manage its 
business risks successfully. The Directors have a reasonable expectation that the Group has adequate resources to continue in operational 
existence for the foreseeable future, and therefore they continue to adopt the going concern basis in the consolidated financial 
statements. Further detail is contained in the Directors’ Report on page 75.

Functional currency and presentation currency
These consolidated financial statements are presented in Pounds Sterling, which is the Company’s functional currency. All values are in 
millions (£m) rounded to one decimal place, except where otherwise stated.

Changes in accounting policy
The Group has adopted the following accounting policies, standards, interpretations and amendments to existing standards during the 
year ended 30 April 2015: 

IFRS 10 Consolidated financial statements

IFRS 11 Joint arrangements

IFRS 12 Disclosure of interests in other entities

IFRIC 21 Levies

IAS 27 (revised) Separate financial statements

IAS 28 (revised) Investments in associates and joint ventures

IAS 32 (amended) Financial instruments: presentation

IAS 36 (amended) Impairment of assets

IAS 39 (amended) Financial instruments: recognition and measurement

Adopting the above IFRS standards required management to reassess where control is exerted by the Group and elaboration of the 
relevant changes is provided below.

IFRS 10 “Consolidated Financial Statements”
IFRS 10 establishes a single control framework to determine whether an entity is required to consolidate investees into its financial 
statements. It unifies the existing principles from SIC-12 and IAS 27 to provide a single model to be applied to all entities. In particular, 
the standard redefines the notion of control as when an investor is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from an investee and has 
the ability to affect those returns through its power over the investee. IFRS 10 applies prospectively for annual periods beginning on or 
after 1 January 2014.

IFRS 11 “Joint Arrangements”
IFRS 11 adopts the same control framework introduced under IFRS 10 and applies its principles to joint operations. It combines 
the IAS 31 categories of jointly controlled assets and jointly controlled operations into a single classification of joint operations. 
Jointly controlled entities under IAS 31 are classified as joint ventures and the option of proportional consolidation has been removed, 
requiring such arrangements to be accounted for under the equity method. 

The new standards and interpretations did not have a material impact on the results or the financial position of the Group as at 
30 April 2015 or on any disclosures.
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The Group continues to monitor the potential impact of other new standards and interpretations which may be endorsed by the EU and 
require adoption by the Group in future accounting periods.

Basis of consolidation
(i) Business combinations
Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition method as at the acquisition date, which is the date on which control is 
transferred to the Group. Control exists when the Group is exposed to, or has rights to, variable returns from its involvement with the 
entity and has the ability to affect those returns through its power over the entity. In assessing control, the Group takes into consideration 
potential voting rights that are currently exercisable. The Group measures goodwill at the acquisition date as:

•	 the fair value of the consideration transferred; plus

•	 the recognised amount of any non-controlling interest in the acquired entity; plus

•	 if the business combination is achieved in stages, the fair value of the pre-existing equity interest in the acquired entity; less

•	 the net recognised amount (generally fair value) of the identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed.

Transaction costs, other than those associated with the issue of debt or equity securities, that the Group incurs in connection with a 
business combination are expensed as incurred.

Any contingent consideration payable is measured at fair value as at the acquisition date. If the contingent consideration is classified as 
equity, then it is not re-measured and settlement is accounted for within equity.

(ii) Subsidiaries
Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Group. Control exists when the Group is exposed to, or has rights to, variable returns from 
its involvement with the entity and has the ability to affect those returns through its power over the entity. The financial results of 
subsidiaries are included in the consolidated financial statements from the date that control commences until the date that control ceases. 
The accounting policies of subsidiaries have been changed to align them with the policies adopted by the Group when necessary.

(iii) Associates and joint arrangements (“equity accounted investments”)
Associates are those entities in which the Group has significant influence, but not control, over the financial and operating policies. 
Joint arrangements are those entities over whose activities the Group has joint control, established by contractual agreement and 
requiring unanimous consent for strategic, financial and operating decisions. Associates and joint arrangements are accounted for using 
the equity method (equity accounted investments) and are initially recognised at cost. 

The consolidated financial statements include the Group’s share of the comprehensive income and equity movements of equity 
accounted investments, from the date that significant influence or joint control commences until the date that significant influence or joint 
control ceases. When the Group’s share of losses exceeds its interest in an equity accounted investment, the Group’s carrying amount 
is reduced to nil and recognition of further losses is discontinued except to the extent that the Group has incurred legal or constructive 
obligations or made payments on behalf of an investee.

(iv) Acquisition of non-controlling interests
Acquisitions of non-controlling interests are accounted for as transactions with owners in their capacity as owners, therefore no goodwill 
is recognised as a result. 

Transactions eliminated on consolidation 
Intra-group balances and transactions, and any unrealised income and expenses arising from intra-group transactions, are eliminated 
in preparing the consolidated financial statements. Unrealised gains arising from transactions with equity accounted investments are 
eliminated against the investment to the extent of the Group’s interest in the investments. Unrealised losses are eliminated in the same 
way as unrealised gains, but only to the extent that there is no evidence of impairment.

Foreign currency transactions
Transactions in foreign currencies are translated to the respective functional currencies of Group entities at the foreign exchange rate 
ruling at the date of the transaction. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies at the balance sheet date are 
retranslated to the functional currency at the foreign exchange rate ruling at that date. The foreign currency gain or loss on monetary 
items is the difference between amortised cost in the functional currency at the beginning of the period, adjusted for effective interest 
and payments during the period, and the amortised cost in foreign currency translated at the exchange rate at the end of the period. 
Non-monetary assets and liabilities that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange 
rate at the date of the transaction. Non-monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies that are stated at fair value 
are retranslated to the functional currency at foreign exchange rates ruling at the dates the fair value was determined. Foreign currency 
differences arising on retranslation are recognised in the income statement.



FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

NOTES
(FORMING PART OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS)
CONTINUED

1 Accounting policies continued
Foreign operations
The assets and liabilities of foreign operations, including goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on consolidation, are translated to 
the Group’s presentational currency, Pounds Sterling, at foreign exchange rates ruling at the reporting date. The income and expenses of 
foreign operations are translated at an average rate for the year where this rate approximates to the foreign exchange rates ruling at the 
dates of the transactions.

Exchange differences arising from this translation of foreign operations are taken directly to the translation reserve. When a foreign 
operation is disposed of, in part or in full, the relevant amount in the translation reserve is transferred to the income statement.

When the settlement of a monetary item receivable from or payable to a foreign operation is neither planned nor likely in the foreseeable 
future, foreign currency gains and losses arising from such items are considered to form part of a net investment in the foreign operation 
and are recognised in other comprehensive income and presented in the translation reserve in equity.

The most significant currencies for the Group were translated at the following exchange rates:

Value of £1
Assets and liabilities 

(Closing rates)
Income and expenses 

(Average rates)

Euro 1.38 1.29

US Dollar 1.54 1.60

Australian Dollar 1.92 1.86

Romanian Lei 6.08 5.71

Available-for-sale financial assets
The Group’s investments in certain equity securities are classified as available-for-sale financial assets. Subsequent to initial recognition, 
the assets are reviewed annually for changes in value with any impairment loss recognised through the income statement, and on 
disposal any realised gains and losses are also recognised through the income statement.

On an annual basis the available-for-sale financial assets are reviewed and re-measured on a fair value basis if the fair value is significantly 
different to the value previously recorded and where the fair value of the unlisted equity shares can be reliably measured.

Financial instruments
(i) Classification of financial instruments issued by the Group
Financial instruments issued by the Group are treated as equity only to the extent that they meet the following two conditions:

•	 they include no contractual obligations upon the Group to deliver cash or other financial assets or to exchange financial assets or 
financial liabilities with another party under conditions that are potentially unfavourable to the Group; and

•	 where the instrument will or may be settled in the Company’s own equity instruments, it is either a non-derivative that includes no 
obligation to deliver a variable number of the Company’s own equity instruments or is a derivative that will be settled by the Company 
exchanging a fixed amount of cash or other financial assets for a fixed number of its own equity instruments.

To the extent that this definition is not met, the proceeds of issue are classified as a financial liability. Where the instrument so classified 
takes the legal form of the Company’s own shares, the amounts presented in these consolidated financial statements for called up share 
capital and share premium account exclude amounts in relation to those shares.

(ii) Non-derivative financial instruments
Non-derivative financial instruments comprise investments in equity securities, trade and other receivables, including cash and cash 
equivalents and trade and other payables.

Non-derivative financial instruments are recognised initially at fair value. Subsequent to initial recognition, non-derivative financial 
instruments are measured as described below.

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash balances and call deposits. Bank overdrafts that are repayable on demand and form an integral 
part of the Group’s cash management are included as a component of cash and cash equivalents for the purpose of the statement of 
cash flows.

Cash and cash equivalents do not include certain customer funds deposited in a stakeholder account held by The Sporting Exchange 
(Clients) Limited, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Group, on the basis that they are held on trust for customers and do not belong to 
and are not at the disposal of the Group.
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Non-derivative financial instruments measured at fair value through profit or loss
An instrument is classified at fair value through profit or loss if it is held for trading or is designated as such upon initial recognition. 
Financial instruments are designated at fair value through profit or loss if the Group manages such investments and makes purchase and 
sale decisions based on their fair value in accordance with the Group’s documented risk management or investment strategy. Upon initial 
recognition, directly attributable transaction costs are recognised in the income statement when incurred. Financial instruments at fair 
value through profit or loss are measured at fair value, and changes therein are recognised in the income statement. 

(iii) Other
Other non-derivative financial instruments are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method, less any 
impairment losses.

(iv) Derivative financial instruments
The Group holds derivative financial instruments in relation to open betting liability positions arising as a result of open positions at the 
reporting date.

Derivatives are recognised initially at fair value; attributable transaction costs are recognised in the income statement when incurred. 
Subsequent to initial recognition, derivatives are measured at fair value, and changes therein are accounted for through the 
income statement.

Share capital
(i) Ordinary shares
Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of ordinary shares and share options are 
recognised as a deduction from equity, net of any tax effects.

(ii) Repurchase of share capital (treasury shares)
When share capital recognised as equity is repurchased, the amount of the consideration paid which includes directly attributable costs, 
is net of any tax effects, and is recognised as a deduction from equity. Repurchased shares are classified as treasury shares and are 
presented as a deduction from total equity. When treasury shares are sold or reissued subsequently, the amount received is recognised as 
an increase in equity, and the resulting surplus or deficit on the transaction is transferred to or from retained earnings.

Earnings per share
The Group presents basic and diluted earnings per share (“EPS”) data for its ordinary shares. Basic EPS is calculated by dividing the 
profit attributable to ordinary shareholders of the Company by the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the 
year. The weighted average number of shares is adjusted for amounts held by the Group’s EBT. Diluted EPS is determined by the profit 
attributable to ordinary shareholders and the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding for the effects of all dilutive 
potential ordinary shares, which include awards under share award schemes and share options granted to employees.

Property, plant and equipment
(i) Recognition and measurement
Items of property, plant and equipment are measured at cost less accumulated depreciation and any accumulated impairment losses.

Cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable to the acquisition of the asset. The cost of self-constructed assets includes the costs 
of materials and direct labour and any other directly attributable cost of bringing the assets to a working condition for their intended use.

Gains and losses on disposal of an item of property, plant and equipment are determined by comparing the proceeds from disposal with 
the carrying amount of property, plant and equipment, and are recognised within the income statement.

(ii) Depreciation
Depreciation is recognised in the income statement on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful life of each part of an item of 
property, plant and equipment. Land is not depreciated.

The estimated useful lives for the current and comparative periods are as follows:

Freehold buildings – 50 years 
Leasehold improvements – Over the term of the lease or the useful economic life of the asset, if shorter 
Computer equipment – 3 years 
Equipment, fixtures and fittings – 3 to 5 years

Depreciation methods, useful lives and residual values are reviewed at each reporting date. 

Goodwill and other intangible assets
(i) Goodwill
Goodwill represents amounts arising on acquisition of subsidiaries, associates and joint arrangements.

Acquisitions on or after 1 May 2007
In respect of business acquisitions that have occurred since 1 May 2007, goodwill represents the difference between the fair value 
of consideration for the acquisition and the net fair value of the identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities acquired. 
Identifiable intangibles are those which can be sold separately or which arise from legal rights regardless of whether those rights 
are separable.
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Goodwill and other intangible assets continued
Acquisitions prior to 1 May 2007
The Group has taken advantage of the exemption permitted by IFRS 1 and has not elected to restate business combinations that took 
place prior to 1 May 2007. In respect of acquisitions prior to 1 May 2007, goodwill is included at 1 May 2007 on the basis of its deemed 
cost, which represents the amount recorded under the Group’s previous accounting framework which was broadly comparable save that 
only separable intangibles were recognised and goodwill was amortised.

Subsequent measurement
Goodwill is measured at cost less any accumulated impairment losses. Goodwill is allocated to cash generating units (CGUs) and is not 
amortised but is tested annually for impairment. In respect of equity accounted investments, the carrying amount of goodwill is included 
in the carrying amount of the investment in the investee.

(ii) Internally generated goodwill and brands
Expenditure on internally generated goodwill and brands is recognised as an expense in the income statement, as incurred.

(iii) Research and development
Expenditure on research activities is recognised as an expense in the income statement, as incurred.

Expenditure on development activities is recognised as an internally generated intangible asset only when the necessary criteria are met; 
including demonstrating the technical feasibility of the product and having sufficient certainty over the future revenue or cost savings that 
will be generated from the product.

The qualifying expenditure capitalised represents costs directly attributable to the development of the asset. This expenditure is 
capitalised from the point at which the above criteria are met up to the point at which the asset is available for use. If the criteria are not 
met the expenditure is recognised in the income statement as an expense in the period in which it is incurred.

Capitalised development expenditure assets are amortised on a straight-line basis from the date they are available for use over their 
useful economic lives.

Tax credits receivable in relation to qualifying spend that has been capitalised is treated as a deduction against that asset.

(iv) Other intangible assets
Identifiable intangibles are assets which have finite lives, can be sold separately or which arise from legal rights regardless of whether 
those rights are separable.

Acquired computer software licences are capitalised on the basis of the costs incurred to acquire and bring in to use the specific software. 
These costs are amortised over their estimated useful economic life or the life of the software licence contract.

Other intangible assets that are acquired by the Group are stated at cost less accumulated amortisation and less accumulated 
impairment losses.

(v) Amortisation
Amortisation is recognised in the income statement on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful economic lives of intangible assets, 
other than goodwill, from the date they are available for use. The estimated useful economic lives are as follows:

Computer software – The shorter of the licence period and up to 10 years 
Licences – The shorter of the licence period and up to 10 years 
Development expenditure – 3 years 
Brand – 2 years 
Customer lists – 2 to 4 years 
Broadcasting rights – 2 to 7 years  
Wagering rights – 6 to 7 years 

Impairment
(i) Financial assets
A financial asset is assessed at each reporting date to determine whether there is any objective evidence that it is impaired. An indicator 
of impairment of a financial asset is apparent if objective evidence highlights that one or more events have had a negative effect on the 
estimated future cash flows of that asset.

An impairment loss in respect of a financial asset measured at amortised cost is calculated as the difference between its carrying 
amount, and the present value of the estimated future cash flows discounted at the original effective interest rate. An impairment loss 
in respect of an available-for-sale financial asset is calculated by reference to its fair value and book value. Significant financial assets are 
tested for impairment on an individual basis. The remaining financial assets are assessed collectively in groups that share similar credit 
risk characteristics.

All impairment losses are recognised in the income statement.
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An impairment loss is reversed if the reversal can be related objectively to an event occurring after the impairment loss was recognised. 
For financial assets measured at amortised cost, the reversal is recognised in the income statement. For available-for-sale financial assets 
that are equity securities, the reversal is recognised directly in equity.

(ii) Non-financial assets
The carrying amounts of the Group’s non-financial assets, other than deferred tax assets, are reviewed at each reporting date to 
determine whether there is any indication of impairment. If any such indication exists, then the asset’s recoverable amount is estimated. 
For goodwill and intangible assets that are not yet available for use, the recoverable amount is estimated each year at the same time.

The recoverable amount of an asset or CGU is the greater of its value in use and its fair value less costs to sell. In assessing value in 
use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market 
assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset. For the purpose of impairment testing, assets are grouped 
together into the smallest group of assets that generates cash inflows from continuing use that are largely independent of the cash 
inflows of other assets or groups of assets (the CGU). The goodwill acquired in a business combination, for the purpose of impairment 
testing, is allocated to CGUs that are expected to benefit from the synergies of the combination.

An impairment loss is recognised if the carrying amount of an asset when allocated to a CGU exceeds its estimated recoverable amount. 
Impairment losses are recognised in the income statement. Impairment losses recognised in respect of CGUs are allocated first to reduce 
the carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to the units and then to reduce the carrying amounts of the other assets in the unit on a 
pro-rata basis.

An impairment loss in respect of goodwill is not reversed. In respect of other assets, impairment losses recognised in prior periods are 
assessed at each reporting date for any indications that the loss has decreased or no longer exists. An impairment loss is reversed if there 
has been a change in the estimates used to determine the recoverable amount. An impairment loss is reversed only to the extent that 
the asset’s carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined, net of depreciation or amortisation, 
if no impairment loss had been recognised.

Employee benefits
(i) Defined contribution plans
A defined contribution plan is a post-employment benefit plan under which the Group pays fixed contributions into a separate entity and 
will have no legal or constructive obligation to pay further amounts. Obligations for contributions to defined contribution pension plans 
are recognised as an employee benefit expense in the income statement when they are due.

(ii) Short-term benefits
Short-term employee benefit obligations are measured on an undiscounted basis and are expensed as the related service is provided. 
A liability is recognised for the amount expected to be paid under short-term cash bonus or profit-sharing plans if the Group has a 
present legal or constructive obligation to pay this amount as a result of past service provided by the employee and the obligation can be 
estimated reliably.

(iii) Share-based payment transactions
The following schemes are in place that allow employees to acquire shares in the Group:

Share option plans and Save-As-You-Earn schemes
Share option plans and Save-As-You-Earn schemes are accounted for as equity-settled share-based payment schemes on the basis that 
the Group will not be required to settle its obligations under these schemes in cash. The fair value of options granted is recognised as an 
employee expense with a corresponding increase in equity. The fair value is measured at grant date and spread over the period during 
which the employees become unconditionally entitled to the share options and is calculated using an option pricing model, taking into 
account the terms and conditions upon which the options were granted. The amount recognised as an expense is adjusted to reflect the 
actual number of share options that vest.

Restricted share scheme
The Group operates a Restricted Share Awards Plan. Under this plan, the Company may grant ad hoc nominal value or nil cost options 
which vest at specified dates up to 7 years from grant. Performance conditions may be applied to awards. As an equity-settled scheme, 
a charge is recognised over the vesting period and may be reversed to the extent that any non-market based performance conditions are 
not met. In January 2012, the Group modified certain outstanding share options and replaced them with restricted shares on a 3:1 basis. 

A number of individuals were granted restricted shares in the current and prior periods. 
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Long Term Incentive Plan (“LTIP”), Deferred Share Incentive Plan (“DSIP”), Short Term Incentive Plan (“STIP”) and Management 
Incentive Plan (“MIP”)
The Group currently operates the LTIP and DSIP. In previous years, the STIP and MIP were used but these were replaced by DSIP in the 
financial year ended 30 April 2014.

•	 The LTIP entitles recipients to share options and restricted share rewards based on meeting the Group and individual performance 
criteria over a three-year period. 

•	 The DSIP provides for one-third of any annual incentive payment (determined under the Annual Cash Incentive Plan) to be paid in 
deferred shares. Any such deferred element granted under the DSIP will vest 50% after one year and 50% after two years from the 
date of grant. Clawback provisions are included and dividends accrue on vested DSIP awards.

•	 The previous STIP and MIP structures had both cash and share elements. The cash element was two-thirds of the award; the 
remaining one-third was paid in deferred shares.

The fair value of the LTIP, DSIP and the share-based elements of the STIP and MIP are calculated under IFRS 2 share-based payment. 
The cash elements of the STIP and the MIP were fixed in value and paid in the year the award was made, with no option on the part of 
the recipient to choose whether they received cash or shares. Accordingly, these cash payments were classified as a cash bonus in the 
income statement (rather than a “cash-settled share-based payment”) and expensed in the year in which the award was made.

Long-term Senior Executives’ Incentive Plan (“SEIP”)
The long-term SEIP was approved by the Board on 16 October 2007. The plan provides for certain senior management and Directors to 
be granted one-off awards consisting of a cash and restricted shares element. The scheme came into effect upon the admission of the 
Group’s shares on the London Stock Exchange.

The cash was paid on the date of admission to the participants in the scheme. The restricted shares were granted on the date of 
admission and half of the restricted shares vested on the first anniversary of the listing and the next half on the second anniversary of 
the listing.

The restricted shares in the SEIP are measured consistently with the treatment of normal restricted shares. All shares granted under the 
SEIP have now been exercised or have lapsed.

Stakeholder award scheme
During 2011, the Group issued 309,280 restricted shares and 26,829 phantom shares to the employees of the Group as part of the new 
Stakeholder award scheme. The scheme relates to the individual employees’ performance during the financial year ended 30 April 2010 
for which a cash bonus accrual had been recognised. Subsequent to the year ended 30 April 2010 the reward was settled by the issue of 
equity instruments.

The restricted shares and phantom shares had a vesting period spanning from the first day of the financial year to which they relate to 
the vest date of 1 August 2011. The restricted shares in the scheme were convertible into shares upon vest date and they were measured 
consistently with the treatment of normal restricted shares. The phantom shares in the scheme were only convertible to cash upon the 
vest date and they are measured based on the market value at the date of grant.

Revenue
Revenue is measured as the consideration received from customers and represents amounts received for services provided by the Group, 
as set out below.

Sports revenue represents the commission earned on the Group’s betting exchange activities and the margin derived from betting activity 
on the Group’s fixed odds bookmaking product. Commission and margin are recognised on the date the outcome for an event is settled. 
Open betting liability positions are recognised based on the best estimate of the outflow that will be required to settle the position at the 
balance sheet date, and losses arising from these positions are recognised in revenue. This gives rise to a derivative financial instrument 
and is accounted for at fair value through profit and loss, as described in the Financial Instruments section on page 112.

Gaming revenue can either represent the margin derived from betting activity between customers and the Group or, in relation to Poker 
and Exchange Games, the commission earned from customers.

TVG revenue is derived from US pari-mutuel betting products (Advanced Deposit Wagering and Tote products), representing a 
percentage of the stake and is recognised on settlement of the event.

Revenue also includes amounts received from the management and investment of customer funds.

Expenses
(i) Cost of sales
Cost of sales principally comprises betting and gaming taxes, customer payment transaction fees, sporting levies and other data 
rights charges.

(ii) Operating lease payments
Payments made under operating leases are recognised in the income statement on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease. 
Lease incentives received are recognised in the income statement as an integral part of the total lease expense over the term of the lease.
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Finance income and expense
Finance income comprises interest earned on corporate funds invested, changes in the fair value of financial assets at fair value through 
profit or loss, and gains on hedging instruments that are recognised in the income statement. Interest income is recognised as it accrues 
in the income statement, using the effective interest method.

Finance expenses comprise changes in the fair value of financial assets at fair value through profit or loss and discount unwinding in 
relation to deferred and contingent consideration.

Foreign currency gains and losses are reported on a net basis, either in finance income or finance expense as appropriate.

Tax
Tax expense comprises current and deferred tax. Tax expense is recognised in the income statement except to the extent that it relates to 
items recognised directly in equity (through other reserves), in which case it is recognised in equity.

Current tax is the expected tax payable on the taxable income for the year, using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at the 
reporting date, and any adjustment to tax payable in respect of previous years.

Deferred tax is provided on temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for financial reporting purposes 
and the amounts used for tax purposes.

A deferred tax asset is recognised to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will be available against which the temporary 
difference can be utilised. Deferred tax assets are reviewed at each reporting date and are reduced to the extent that it is no longer 
probable that the related tax benefit will be realised.

Additional income taxes that arise from the distribution of dividends are recognised at the same time that the liability to pay the related 
dividend is recognised.

The following temporary differences are not provided for: the initial recognition of goodwill; the initial recognition of assets or liabilities 
that affect neither accounting nor taxable profit other than in a business combination; and differences relating to investments in 
subsidiaries to the extent that they will probably not reverse in the foreseeable future.

Deferred tax is measured at the tax rates that are expected to be applied to temporary differences when they reverse, based on the laws 
that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the reporting date.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset if there is a legally enforceable right to offset current tax liabilities and assets, and they relate 
to income taxes levied by the same tax authority on the same taxable entity, or on different tax entities, but they intend to settle current 
tax liabilities and assets on a net basis or their tax assets and liabilities will be realised simultaneously.

In determining the current and deferred tax the Group takes into account the impact of uncertain tax positions and whether additional 
taxes and interest may be due. The Group believes that its accruals for tax liabilities are adequate for all open tax years based on 
its assessment of many factors, including interpretations of tax law and prior experience. This assessment relies on estimates and 
assumptions and may involve a series of judgments about future events. New information may become available that causes the Group 
to change its judgment regarding the adequacy of existing tax liabilities; such changes to tax liabilities will impact tax expense in the 
period that such a determination is made.

Operating segments
An operating segment is a component of the Group that engages in business activities from which it may earn revenues and incur 
expenses, including revenues and expenses that relate to transactions with any of the Group’s other components.

Segment information is based on the internal reports regularly reviewed by the Group’s Chief Operating Decision Maker (“CODM”) in 
order to assess each segment’s performance and to allocate resources. The CODM is the Executive Committee which monitors the 
financial and operational performance of the Group and allocates resources within the budgets agreed by the Board.

Leases
Under accounting standards there is a requirement for management to examine the buildings element within each property lease 
to determine if the lease meets the definition of a finance lease and, if so, it should be accounted for as such. This review involves 
determining the fair value of each property at the inception of the lease and analysing the minimum lease payments between their “land” 
and “buildings” elements. Based on management’s review of leases for the years ended 30 April 2015 and 2014, all premises leases 
qualify as operating leases.

Separately disclosed items 
Separately disclosed items are those items included within operating profit that the Group considers to be non-recurring or material in 
nature that should be brought to the reader’s attention in understanding the Group’s financial performance

The separate reporting of these items, which are disclosed within the relevant category in the income statement, helps provide a more 
accurate indication of the Group’s underlying business performance.
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Future accounting developments
The following new standards, interpretations and amendments were issued by the IASB or the IFRIC but were not effective for the 
financial year (and in some cases have not yet been adopted by the EU): 

•	 IFRS 9 “Financial Instruments”

•	 IFRS 14 “Regulatory Deferral Accounts”

•	 IFRS 15 “Revenue from Contracts with Customers”

The Directors have decided not to early adopt the above standards and they do not expect that the adoption of the standards listed 
above will have a material impact on the financial statements of the Group in future periods.

There are no other IFRSs or IFRICs in issue but not yet effective that are expected to have a significant impact for the Group. 

Accounting estimates and judgments
The preparation of consolidated financial statements in conformity with IFRSs requires management to make estimates, judgments 
and assumptions that affect the application of accounting policies and the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, income and expenses. 
Actual results may differ from these estimates.

Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the period 
in which the estimates are revised and in any future periods affected. In particular, information about significant areas of estimation 
uncertainty and critical judgments in applying accounting policies that have the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the 
consolidated financial statements is included in the following notes:

Estimates
Note 9 – Measurement of the recoverable amounts of goodwill and other intangible assets
An impairment review has been performed of all goodwill and intangible assets held by the Group. The impairment review is performed 
on a “value in use” basis, which requires estimation of future net operating cash flows, the time period over which they will occur, an 
appropriate discount rate and an appropriate growth rate. 

Note 12 – Deferred tax
Deferred tax assets and liabilities represent management’s best estimate in determining the amounts to be recognised. When assessing 
the extent to which deferred tax assets should be recognised, consideration is given to the timing and level of future taxable income.

Note 18 – Measurement of share-based payments
Estimation and judgment is required in determining the fair value of shares at the date of award. The fair value is estimated using 
valuation techniques which take into account the award’s term, the risk-free interest rate and the expected volatility of the market price of 
shares of the Group.

Note 23 – Determination of fair value of deferred and contingent consideration
Deferred and contingent consideration is initially recognised at fair value and subsequently reassessed at each reporting date to reflect 
changes in estimates and assumptions. Fair value is determined using an income approach which requires estimation of future net 
operating cash flows, the time period over which they will occur, an appropriate discount rate and an appropriate growth rate.

Judgments
Note 1 – Basis of consolidation
Judgment is applied when determining if an acquired entity is controlled by the Group, and whether the acquired entity meets the criteria 
to be defined as a subsidiary. In assessing control, the Group considers whether it has the ability to control on a legal or contractual basis 
rather than whether that control is actually exercised. 

Valuation of tax provisions and liabilities
Judgment and estimation is required to interpret international tax laws and the way that they interact within each jurisdiction, in order 
to identify and value provisions in relation to gaming taxes as applicable. In addition to gaming taxes, judgment is required in relation to 
international tax laws including transfer pricing and controlled foreign companies.

Business combinations
Judgment and estimation is required in the identification and valuation of separable assets and liabilities on acquisitions. In particular, in 
the identification and valuation of separable intangible assets and determining appropriate useful economic lives for these assets, and also 
in determining contingent consideration payable in respect of acquisitions where required by the terms of the agreement.
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2 Operating segments 
The Group’s continuing operating businesses are organised and managed as reportable business segments according to the information 
which is used by the Group’s CODM in making decisions about reporting matters. These segments are:

•	 Betfair excl. US

  − Sports 
  − Gaming 
  − Management of customer funds

•	 Betfair US.

The previous reportable segments of Sportsbook and Exchange have been combined into one reportable segment named “Sports”. 
This is to better reflect the way financial information is reviewed by the CODM. Sports now consists of the Exchange sports betting 
product, Timeform, the Sportsbook and Multiples. The Group has restated the operating segment information for the year ended 
30 April 2014 accordingly.

Gaming consists of various Casino products and bespoke Exchange games products. Tradefair Spreads and Poker are also classified within 
Gaming. All of these gaming activities are played by customers in a number of geographical areas. 

Sports and Gaming meet the quantitative thresholds required by IFRS 8 as reportable segments. While the revenue from the 
Management of customer funds does not meet these requirements, this segment is separately disclosed as it is monitored by the CODM.

The Group’s US operations (including the TVG Network) meet the quantitative threshold to be disclosed separately.

The results of the Australian joint venture (up to the date of disposal) were consolidated in the Group accounts on an equity accounting 
basis. As such only the Group’s share of gains and losses are presented in the operating segment note below. 

The Group focuses its internal management reporting predominantly on revenue, as the products’ potential to generate revenue is 
the chief driver of the Group’s business and the allocation of resources. The Group’s cost base is to a large extent fixed in nature. 
Corporate expenses, assets and liabilities cannot readily be allocated to individual operating segments and are not used by the CODM for 
making operating and resource allocation decisions. 

However, expenses are allocated and reviewed by the CODM between Betfair excl. US and the Betfair US operating segment. 
The analysis of EBITDA is summarised below.

Management also reviews Group revenue on a geographic basis, determined by the location of the customers. This information is 
analysed below on the following basis:

•	 UK

•	 Rest of World.

The majority of the Group’s non-current assets are located in the UK and the US, representing 44% and 45% of total non-current assets 
respectively (30 April 2014: UK 71% and US 12%). 

Segmental information for the years ended 30 April 2015 and 30 April 2014 is as follows: 

Year ended 30 April 2015

Sports
£m

Gaming
£m

Management
of customer

funds
£m

Betfair excl. 
US
£m

Betfair
US
£m

Group
£m

Revenue 328.0 88.5 1.2 417.7 58.8 476.5

EBITDA 115.4 4.8 120.2

Depreciation and amortisation (25.9)

Net finance income 0.4

Profit on disposal of joint venture 6.4 
Share of profit of equity 
  accounted investments 0.1

Profit before tax 101.2

Tax (14.8)

Profit for the year 86.4

Total assets 232.0

Total liabilities 182.6
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Year ended 30 April 2014

Sports
£m

Gaming
£m

Management
of customer

funds
£m

Betfair excl. 
US
£m

Betfair
US
£m

Group
£m

Revenue 280.5 66.2 1.2 347.9 45.7 393.6

EBITDA 89.1 2.0 91.1

Depreciation and amortisation (29.5)

Net finance income 0.7
Share of loss of equity
  accounted investments (1.2)

Profit before tax 61.1

Tax (10.1)

Profit for the year 51.0

Total assets 309.5

Total liabilities 138.1

Geographical information determined by location of customers is set out below:

Year ended 30 April 2015

UK
Sustainable

£m

Rest of World
Sustainable

£m

Total
Sustainable

£m

Rest of 
World
Other

£m
Group

£m

Betfair excl. US 315.5 14.2 329.7 88.0 417.7

Betfair US – 58.8 58.8 – 58.8

Total Group revenue 315.5 73.0 388.5 88.0 476.5

Year ended 30 April 2014

UK
Sustainable

£m

Rest of World
Sustainable

£m

Total
Sustainable

£m

Rest of 
World
Other

£m
Group

£m

Betfair excl. US  246.4 14.0 260.4 87.5 347.9

Betfair US – 45.7 45.7 – 45.7

Total Group revenue 246.4 59.7 306.1 87.5 393.6

Revenue derived from customers located in Ireland and Gibraltar is classified within UK.

3 Profit before tax
Profit before tax is stated after charging:

Note
2015

£m
2014

£m

Equity-settled share-based payments and associated costs 18 10.4 7.3

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 8 8.2 12.1

Amortisation of capitalised development costs 9 11.7 10.2

Amortisation of other intangibles 9 6.0 7.2

Rentals payable under operating leases 5.5 5.7

Research and non-capitalised development costs 44.8 44.4
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Auditors’ remuneration:
2015

£m
2014

£m

Fees payable to the Company’s auditor for the audit of these financial statements 0.1 0.1

Fees payable to the Company’s auditor and its associates for other services:

Audit of financial statements of subsidiaries pursuant to legislation 0.5 0.5

Other services pursuant to legislation – review of interim financial statements 0.1 0.1

Tax services 0.4 0.4

Total 1.1 1.1

Amounts paid to the Company’s auditor and their associates in respect of services to the Company, other than the audit of the 
Company’s financial statements, have not been disclosed as the information is required instead to be disclosed on a consolidated basis.

4 Employee numbers and costs
The average number of persons employed by the Group (including Directors) during the year, analysed by category, was as follows:

2015
No

2014
No

Technology 748 687

Sales and marketing 388 333

Operations 588 535

G&A 177 184

Total 1,901 1,739

The aggregate payroll costs of these persons were as follows:

Note
2015

£m
2014

£m

Wages and salaries 84.2 80.6

Social security costs 10.5 10.3

Redundancy costs 1.3 3.0

Equity-settled share-based payments and associated costs 18 10.4 7.3

Pension costs 2.0 1.9

Total 108.4 103.1

Details on the remuneration of Directors are set out in the Directors’ Remuneration Report on pages 53 to 72.

5 Finance income and expense
Recognised in income statement

2015
£m

2014
£m

Finance income
Bank interest receivable 1.1 1.1

Total 1.1 1.1

2015
£m

2014
£m

Finance expense

Foreign exchange loss 0.3 0.4

Unwinding of discount on deferred and contingent consideration 0.4 –

Total 0.7 0.4
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6 Tax
Recognised in the income statement

2015
£m

2014
£m

Current tax

UK – current year 8.1 5.8

UK – adjustments in respect of prior periods 0.3 (0.9)

Overseas – current year 6.4 4.1

Overseas – adjustments in respect of prior periods (0.1) –

Current tax expense 14.7 9.0

Deferred tax

Origination and reversal of temporary differences 0.1 0.7

Tax rate reduction – 0.4

Deferred tax 0.1 1.1

Total tax expense 14.8 10.1

Reconciliation of effective tax rate
2015

£m
2014

£m

Profit before tax 101.2 61.1
Total tax expense (14.8) (10.1)

Profit for the year 86.4 51.0

Tax using the UK corporation tax rate of 20.9% (2014: 22.8%) 21.2 13.9

Effect of tax rates in foreign jurisdictions (9.3) (5.5)

Non-deductible expenses 1.0 5.6

Tax rate reduction – 0.4

Current year income statement charge/(credit) for which no deferred tax asset was recognised 3.7 (2.5)

Adjustments in respect of prior periods (1.8) (1.8)

Total tax expense 14.8 10.1

Tax recognised directly in equity
2015

£m
2014

£m

Other deferred tax in relation to equity-settled share-based payments 0.4 (0.1)

Deferred tax 0.4 (0.1)

Current tax in relation to equity-settled share-based payments 0.5 0.3

Total tax 0.9 0.2

The Group’s consolidated effective tax rate for the year was 14.6% (30 April 2014: 16.5%).

A reduction in the UK corporation tax rate from 21% to 20% (effective from 1 April 2015) was substantially enacted on 2 July 2013. 
Any deferred tax assets and liabilities at 30 April 2015 have been calculated at 20%. 
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7 Earnings per share
Basic earnings per share
The calculation of basic earnings per share for the year ended 30 April 2015 was based on the profit attributable to ordinary 
shareholders of £86.4m (30 April 2014: £51.0m) and a weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding of 100,573,899 
(30 April 2014: 103,975,695). The weighted average number of shares has been adjusted for amounts held by the Group’s EBT.

2015 2014

Profit for the year (£m) 86.4 51.0

Weighted average number of shares 100,573,899 103,975,695

Basic earnings per share 85.9p 49.0p

Diluted earnings per share 83.7p 48.1p

All earnings in the current year relate to continuing operations. 

Diluted earnings per share
The calculation of diluted earnings per share for the year ended 30 April 2015 was based on the profit attributable to ordinary 
shareholders of £86.4m (30 April 2014: £51.0m) and a weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding after adjustment for 
the effect of all dilutive potential ordinary shares of 103,167,618 (30 April 2014: 106,019,686).

Profit used to determine diluted earnings per share
2015

£m
2014

£m

Profit used to determine diluted earnings per share 86.4 51.0

Weighted average number of shares (diluted)
2015

No
2014

No

Weighted average number of ordinary shares (basic) 100,573,899 103,975,695
Effect of share options on issue 2,593,719 2,043,991

Weighted average number of ordinary shares (diluted) 103,167,618 106,019,686

The average market value of the Company’s shares of £13.92 (30 April 2014: £9.89) was used to calculate the dilutive effect of share 
options based on the market value for the year that the options were outstanding.
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8 Property, plant and equipment

Freehold land 
and buildings

£m

Leasehold 
improvements

£m

Computer
equipment

£m

Equipment, 
fixtures

and fittings
£m

Total
£m

Cost

At 1 May 2013 0.8 14.0 90.3 9.2 114.3

Additions – 0.4 2.7 5.4 8.5

Disposals – – (1.0) (0.3) (1.3)

Net foreign exchange differences – (0.2) (0.4) (0.5) (1.1)

At 30 April 2014 0.8 14.2 91.6 13.8 120.4

Additions – 0.6 4.7 1.0 6.3

Disposals – (0.1) (0.8) (0.1) (1.0)

Net foreign exchange differences – 0.1 0.5 0.7 1.3

At 30 April 2015 0.8 14.8 96.0 15.4 127.0

Depreciation

At 1 May 2013 0.1 8.5 79.0 6.1 93.7

Depreciation for the year – 1.6 9.3 1.2 12.1

Disposals – – (0.9) (0.1) (1.0)

Net foreign exchange differences – (0.1) (0.6) (0.4) (1.1)

At 30 April 2014 0.1 10.0 86.8 6.8 103.7

Depreciation for the year – 1.5 4.5 2.2 8.2

Disposals – – (0.8) (0.1) (0.9)

Net foreign exchange differences – 0.1 0.7 0.4 1.2

At 30 April 2015 0.1 11.6 91.2 9.3 112.2

Net book value

At 30 April 2014 0.7 4.2 4.8 7.0 16.7

At 30 April 2015 0.7 3.2 4.8 6.1 14.8
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9 Goodwill and other intangible assets

Goodwill
£m

Computer 
software

£m
Licences

£m

Development 
expenditure

£m
Brand

£m

Customer
lists
£m

Broadcasting
and wagering

rights
£m

Total
£m

Cost

At 1 May 2013 55.8 34.5 1.6 118.8 2.1 9.4 0.9 223.1
Other acquisitions – internally
  developed

– – – 7.4 – – – 7.4

Other acquisitions – externally
  purchased

– 1.0 0.6 4.9 – – – 6.5

Net foreign exchange differences (2.8) – (0.1) (0.3) (0.2) (0.3) (0.1) (3.8)
At 30 April 2014 53.0 35.5 2.1 130.8 1.9 9.1 0.8 233.2

Acquired through business 
  combinations

4.3 – – – 0.4 – 31.3 36.0

Other acquisitions – 
  internally developed

– – – 6.6 – – – 6.6

Other acquisitions – 
  externally purchased

– 0.8 1.8 4.3 – – – 6.9

Net foreign exchange differences 2.7 (0.1) 0.2 0.3 0.2 0.4 0.1 3.8

At 30 April 2015 60.0 36.2 4.1 142.0 2.5 9.5 32.2 286.5

Amortisation

At 1 May 2013 35.3 26.6 1.5 97.8 2.1 4.4 0.8 168.5

Amortisation for the year – 3.7 0.7 10.2 – 2.7 0.1 17.4

Net foreign exchange differences (1.2) – (0.1) – (0.2) (0.4) (0.1) (2.0)

At 30 April 2014 34.1 30.3 2.1 108.0 1.9 6.7 0.8 183.9

Amortisation for the year – 2.6 – 11.7 0.1 2.4 0.9 17.7

Net foreign exchange differences 0.8 (0.1) 0.2 0.1 0.2 0.4 0.1 1.7
At 30 April 2015 34.9 32.8 2.3 119.8 2.2 9.5 1.8 203.3

Net book value

At 30 April 2014 18.9 5.2 – 22.8 – 2.4 – 49.3

At 30 April 2015 25.1 3.4 1.8 22.2 0.3 – 30.4 83.2

Computer software represents software licences which have been purchased from suppliers. Licences represent bookmaking and gaming 
licences held by the Group.

Development expenditure represents internally and externally generated costs incurred on development activities. These costs have been 
capitalised in accordance with the requirements of IAS 38 “Intangible Assets”.

The remaining other brought forward intangibles represent assets purchased as part of the TVG Network acquisition (being brand, 
customer lists and broadcasting and wagering rights) and the customer database purchased as part of the Blue Square Bet acquisition 
in March 2013. These are amortised over their estimated useful economic lives, which fall between two to six years, and are now all 
fully amortised.

The assets acquired through business combinations represent the identifiable intangible assets acquired from The Stronach Group as part 
of the HRTV acquisition. Other than goodwill these assets are amortised over their estimated useful economic lives which fall between 
two and seven years.

The amortisation charge of intangible assets is recognised within “Administrative expenses” in the income statement.
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9 Goodwill and other intangible assets continued
Goodwill
At 30 April 2015, the carrying amount of goodwill, after the impairment review, was £25.1m (30 April 2014: £18.9m) allocated across 
one (30 April 2014: one) CGU as follows:

2015
£m

2014
£m

CGU
TVG 25.1 18.9

Total goodwill net book value at 30 April 25.1 18.9

All goodwill is recorded in local currency. Additions are converted at the exchange rate on the date of the transaction and the goodwill at 
the end of the year is stated at closing exchange rates.

Impairment testing
Goodwill
Goodwill is tested annually for impairment at each reporting date by comparing the carrying amounts of these assets with their 
recoverable amounts. Where the recoverable amount exceeds the carrying amount of the assets, the assets are considered as 
not impaired.

No impairment charges were incurred in the year ended 30 April 2015 (30 April 2014: £nil). The TVG CGU is comprised of the assets 
and operations of the TVG Network and newly acquired HRTV network, which are included in the Group’s Betfair US operating segment 
as disclosed in note 2. Additional information regarding the acquisition is included in note 23. 

Testing is carried out by allocating the carrying value of these assets to the CGU and determining the recoverable amount of this CGU 
through a value in use calculation. The calculation is based on projecting future pre-tax cash flows over a five-year period and uses a 
terminal value to incorporate expectations of growth thereafter. The terminal value is calculated using a perpetuity model, which reflects 
the expected long-term average growth rate for the business in which the CGU operates.

The budgets for the next financial year, which are subject to Board approval, form the basis of the cash flow projections for the CGU. 
Cash flow projections for the next four financial years reflect management’s expectations of the medium-term operating performance of 
the CGU and growth prospects in the CGU’s markets and regions, and have been modelled in line with historic patterns experienced by 
the Group in recent years, where relevant. Growth rates used do not exceed expectations of long-term growth in the local market. 

A discount factor is applied to obtain a “value in use” which is the recoverable amount, unless the fair value less costs to sell the CGU is 
an amount in excess of the “value in use”. The discount rate is estimated by the Group using a range of equity costs for similar companies 
and external market data, with samples chosen where applicable from the same markets or territories as the CGU.

The calculation of value in use for goodwill is sensitive to the following key assumptions:

(i) Operating cash flow
One of the key drivers of operating cash flow is revenue as the calculation of the recoverable amount of TVG goodwill is sensitive 
to future developments in US horseracing. The 2016 revenue figures for the CGU are based on the budget for the next financial 
year. For the years 2017 to 2020, the likely organic growth rates were assessed for each region in the CGU, taking account of past 
experience, growth prospects in regions and historic player patterns. The terminal growth rate used was nil% (30 April 2014: nil%). 
Management considers the assumed growth rate to be conservative. 

(ii) Discount rate applied
The discount rate applied to the CGU represents a pre-tax rate that reflects the Group’s weighted average cost of capital adjusted for the 
risks specific to that CGU.

For the TVG CGU, a pre-tax discount rate of 11.0% (30 April 2014: 12.5%) has been used in discounting the projected cash flows. 

As discussed on page 20, the TVG business performed positively during the financial year. As a result, there are no reasonable changes in 
the key assumptions that would cause the carrying amount of the CGU to exceed the recoverable amount. 
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10 Investments in subsidiaries and joint arrangements
On 12 August 2014, the Group completed the sale of its 50% share in its joint venture, Betfair Australasia Pty Limited, for consideration 
of A$10.0m (£5.5m). The shareholder loan owed by the joint venture, which amounted to A$11.7m (£6.5m), was also repaid to the 
Group. Until the date of disposal, in accordance with IAS 28, the Group’s interest in the joint venture was accounted for using the equity 
method with the share of profit for the period reported on the face of the income statement. 

The interest in the Group’s joint ventures is as follows:

2015
£m

2014
£m

Share of net assets/(liabilities)
At the beginning of the year (1.2) (0.3)

Share of operating profit/(loss) – (1.4)

Share of interest receivable 0.1 0.2

Foreign exchange differences (0.1) 0.3

Eliminated on disposal 1.3 –

At the end of the year 0.1 (1.2)

Goodwill

At the beginning of the year 0.4 0.4

Eliminated on disposal (0.4) –

At the end of the year – 0.4

Loan

At the beginning of the year 6.3 7.8

Foreign exchange differences 0.2 (1.5)

Repayment of loan (6.5) –

At the end of the year – 6.3

Net book value

At 30 April 2014 5.5 7.9

At 30 April 2015 0.1 5.5

The Group’s profit on disposal of joint venture was calculated as follows:

2015
£m

Sale proceeds 5.5

Add share of net liabilities at disposal 1.3

Less goodwill at disposal (0.4)

Profit on disposal of joint venture 6.4

The table below presents the summary aggregated financial information of Betfair Australasia Pty Limited at 100% for the year ended 
30 April 2014.

2014
£m

Current assets 10.5

Non-current assets 5.3

Total liabilities (9.8)

Revenue 30.9

Expenses (31.4)
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10 Investments in subsidiaries and joint arrangements continued
The Group and Company have the following principal holdings in subsidiaries and investments:

Country of origin Principal activity Classification
Ordinary shares 

held %

The Sporting Exchange Limited England Holding company Subsidiary 100

Betfair Limited England Support services Subsidiary 100

The Sporting Exchange (Clients) Limited England Trust operator Subsidiary 100

Timeform Limited England Publisher Subsidiary 100

TSE Global Limited England Support services Subsidiary 100

TSE Development Limited England Intellectual property licensor Subsidiary 100

TSE Holdings Limited England Holding company Subsidiary 100

TSE (International) Ltd England Holding company Subsidiary 100

Winslow One Limited England Holding company Subsidiary 100

Winslow Two England Holding company Subsidiary 100

Winslow Three Limited Cayman Islands Investment and holding company Subsidiary 100

Winslow Four Cayman Islands Investment and holding company Subsidiary 100

TSE (Gibraltar) LP Gibraltar Online sports betting Subsidiary 100

TSE Data Processing Limited Ireland Data centre and support services Subsidiary 100

Polco Limited Malta
Intellectual property licensor and 

online sports betting Subsidiary 100

Betfair Games Limited Malta Online gaming Subsidiary 100

Betfair Casino Limited Malta Online gaming Subsidiary 100

Betfair Counterparty Services Limited Malta Online sports betting Subsidiary 100

Betfair Entertainment Limited Malta Online gaming Subsidiary 100

Betfair International Plc Malta Online sports betting and gaming Subsidiary 100

Betfair Marketing Limited Malta Marketing activities Subsidiary 100

Betfair Holding (Malta) Limited Malta Holding company Subsidiary 100

Betfair Poker Holdings Limited Malta Holding company Subsidiary 100

Betfair Italia S.R.L. Italy Online sports betting and gaming Subsidiary 100

TSE Development Romania S.R.L. Romania R&D activities Subsidiary 100

TSE Services Limited Gibraltar Support services Subsidiary 100

TSE Marketing España, SL Spain Marketing activities Subsidiary 100

The Rebate Company LLC USA Online gaming Subsidiary 100

TSE US Holdings LLC USA Holding company Subsidiary 100

TSE US LLC USA R&D activities Subsidiary 100

ODS Holding LLC USA Holding company Subsidiary 100

ODS Technologies LP USA Online gaming Subsidiary 100

Trackside Live Productions, LLC USA Online gaming Subsidiary 100

ODS Properties, Inc. USA Property holding company Subsidiary 100

Betfair Interactive US LLC USA Online gaming Subsidiary 100

HRTV, LLC USA Online gaming Subsidiary 100

HRTV Holdco LLC USA Holding company Subsidiary 100

TSED Unipessoal LDA Portugal R&D activities Subsidiary 100

Tradefair Spreads Limited* England Spread betting services Subsidiary 99.75

London Multi Asset Exchange (Holdings) Limited* England Holding company Subsidiary 99.75

LMAX Limited England Trading Investment 31.4
*	Non-controlling interest of 0.25% exists in relation to Tradefair Spreads Limited and London Multi Asset Exchange (Holdings) Limited. 
	 The value of this non-controlling interest was less than £0.1m at 30 April 2015 and 30 April 2014. 



ST
RA

TE
G

IC
 R

EP
O

RT
FI

NA
N

CI
AL

 ST
AT

EM
EN

TS
 A

N
D

CO
RP

O
RA

TE
 IN

FO
RM

AT
IO

N
G

O
VE

RN
AN

CE

Betfair Group plc Annual Report and Accounts 2015 104-105

The Sporting Exchange Limited is held directly by Betfair Group plc. All other subsidiaries are held indirectly.

Other direct holdings of the Group and Company have been excluded in accordance with the Companies Act 2006 s410, as they are not 
deemed to be significant to these accounts. A full list of the Group and Company subsidiaries will be included in the next annual return.

11 Available-for-sale financial assets
At 30 April 2015 and 2014, the available-for-sale financial assets comprised the Group’s 6.7% non-controlling interest in Featurespace 
Limited (£0.1m) and non-controlling interest in LMAX Limited of 31.4% (£1.2m). The Group does not have significant influence over the 
operations and decision making of LMAX Limited and does not have any representation on the Board. The Group’s holding in LMAX 
Limited decreased from 33% to 31.4% on 5 March 2014 as a result of new share issues by LMAX Limited. The Group’s holding in 
Featurespace Limited decreased from 9.9% to 6.7% on 9 June 2014 as a result of new share issues by Featurespace Limited.

2015
£m

2014
£m

At 1 May 1.3 1.3

At 30 April 1.3 1.3

12 Deferred tax assets and liabilities 
Recognised deferred tax assets and liabilities are attributable to the following:

Assets Liabilities Total

2015 
£m

2014
£m

2015 
£m

2014
£m

2015 
£m

2014
£m

Property, plant and equipment 5.4 5.8 – – 5.4 5.8

Intangible assets – – (4.1) (4.1) (4.1) (4.1)
Equity-settled share-based payments
  and associated costs 1.8 1.0 – – 1.8 1.0

Losses 0.2 – – – 0.2 –
Other 0.9 1.2 – – 0.9 1.2

Deferred tax assets/(liabilities) 8.3 8.0 (4.1) (4.1) 4.2 3.9

The Group has unrecognised deferred tax assets in respect of losses of £13.2m (30 April 2014: £8.9m), unrecognised deferred tax 
assets in respect of depreciation in excess of capital allowances of £0.7m (30 April 2014: £0.8m) and unrecognised deferred tax assets in 
respect of share-based payments of £nil (30 April 2014: £0.6m). 

These have not been recognised on the basis that there is insufficient certainty of there being future taxable profits in the 
relevant jurisdictions.

Movements in deferred tax are as follows:

Property, 
plant and 

equipment
£m

Intangible 
assets

£m

Share-based 
payments

£m

Tax value of 
loss carry-

forwards
£m

Other
£m

Total
£m

Balance at 1 May 2013 6.3 (4.3) 1.2 – 1.9 5.1

Recognised in income statement (0.5) 0.2 (0.1) – (0.7) (1.1)

Recognised in equity – – (0.1) – – (0.1)

Balance at 30 April 2014 5.8 (4.1) 1.0 – 1.2 3.9

Recognised in income statement (0.4) – 0.4 0.2 (0.3) (0.1)

Recognised in equity – – 0.4 – – 0.4

Balance at 30 April 2015 5.4 (4.1) 1.8 0.2 0.9 4.2

13 Trade and other receivables
2015

£m
2014

£m

Trade receivables 3.6 2.2

Other receivables 5.1 5.4

Prepayments 14.6 15.4

Total 23.3 23.0
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14 Cash and cash equivalents
2015

£m
2014

£m

Cash and cash equivalents 105.1 209.8

The above cash and cash equivalents include £12.9m (30 April 2014: £9.0m) of customer funds that are not held on trust in 
The Sporting Exchange (Clients) Limited in accordance with local regulations. These customer funds that are not held on trust are 
matched by liabilities of an equal value as disclosed in note 15. The cash and cash equivalents also include an additional £0.7m 
of restricted cash relating to the Group’s financial guarantees (30 April 2014: £0.9m). 

As at 30 April 2015, £280.6m (30 April 2014: £269.0m) was held on trust in The Sporting Exchange (Clients) Limited, on behalf of the 
Group’s customers and is equal to the amounts deposited into customer accounts.

15 Trade and other payables 
2015

£m
2014

£m

Trade payables 8.6 8.1

Other payables 31.0 21.2

Amounts owed to joint ventures – 2.1

Accruals and other taxation 88.5 80.4

Total current 128.1 111.8

Included in other payables at 30 April 2015 is an amount of £12.9m (30 April 2014: £9.0m) in respect of amounts due to customers, 
representing deposits received and customer winnings which are not held on trust. This is offset by an equivalent amount of customer 
funds held, which is included in cash and cash equivalents as disclosed in note 14. 

The non-current trade and other payables are as follows:

2015
£m

2014
£m

Other payables 19.5 –

Total non-current 19.5 –

The non-current trade and other payables relate to the deferred and contingent consideration payable to The Stronach Group that will be 
settled more than 12 months after the reporting date.

16 Provisions
Redundancy 

provision
£m

Onerous 
contracts

£m

Gaming 
tax
£m

Total
£m

Balance at 1 May 2013 9.7 1.9 – 11.6

Utilised in the year (9.7) (1.6) – (11.3)

Reclassification from non-current* – 0.9 – 0.9

Current provisions 30 April 2014 – 1.2 – 1.2

Additions in the year – – 4.1 4.1

Utilised in the year – (0.5) – (0.5)

Reclassification from non-current* – 0.3 – 0.3

Current provisions 30 April 2015 – 1.0 4.1 5.1

Balance at 1 May 2013 – 1.6 – 1.6

Reclassification to current* – (0.9) – (0.9)

Non-current provisions 30 April 2014 – 0.7 – 0.7

Reclassification to current* – (0.3) – (0.3)

Non-current provisions 30 April 2015 – 0.4 – 0.4

*	Non-current provisions reflect contractual obligations that will be settled more than 12 months after the reporting date. During the year, £0.3m (30 April 2014: £0.9m) has 
been reclassified from non-current provisions to current provisions.

Onerous contracts relate to provisions made in relation to operating leases for premises that were vacated during the year ended 
30 April 2013 as part of the restructuring.

Gaming tax provisions relate to amounts provided for taxes in certain jurisdictions where the interpretation of tax legislation is uncertain.
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17 Equity
Share capital

Ordinary shares

Note
2015

No
2014

No

As at 1 May 104,988,330 104,221,610

Issued by the Group in relation to:

Exercised share options and restricted shares 790,464 704,426

Impact of share consolidation 25 (13,210,903) –

Exercised SAYE options 35,360 62,294

Total fully paid, ordinary shares of £0.00095 (2014: £0.001) each as at 30 April 92,603,251 104,988,330

2015
£m

2014
£m

Allotted, called up and fully paid

92,603,251 ordinary shares of £0.00095 (30 April 2014: £0.001) each (30 April 2014: 104,988,330) 0.1 0.1

During the year, the Group received consideration of £5.4m (30 April 2014: £2.2m) for the exercise of 790,464 
(30 April 2014: 704,426) share options and restricted shares and £0.2m (30 April 2014: £0.3m) for the exercise of 35,360 
(30 April 2014: 62,294) SAYE options, resulting in total consideration from the issue of shares of £5.6m (30 April 2014: £2.5m).

Exercise prices ranged from £0.001 to £10.00.

The Employee Benefit Trust held 429,471 ordinary shares in the Company as at 30 April 2015 (30 April 2014: 1,515,096).

The total fully diluted shares as at 30 April 2015 was 96,544,683 (30 April 2014: 109,136,657).

Other reserves
Other reserves mainly comprise tax directly recognised in equity.

Translation reserve
The foreign currency translation reserve comprises all foreign exchange differences on the revaluation of foreign currency entities and 
long-term foreign currency balances considered to be quasi-equity in nature.

18 Share-based payments
The Group had the following share-based payment schemes in operation during the year:

(a)  Share option plans

(b) Save-As-You-Earn (“SAYE”) share option schemes

(c)  Restricted share scheme

(d)  Long Term Incentive Plan, Deferred Share Incentive Plan, Short Term Incentive Plan and Management Incentive Plan

(e)  Senior Executives’ Incentive Plan

(f)  Stakeholder award scheme.

As at 30 April 2015, 3,941,432 share options and restricted shares (30 April 2014: 4,148,327) in the capital of the Group remain 
outstanding and are exercisable up to 30 April 2025.

In accordance with IFRS 2, the total expense recognised in respect of these schemes was £9.2m (excluding Employers’ National 
Insurance costs) for the year ended 30 April 2015 (30 April 2014: £6.5m). Employers’ National Insurance costs amount to £1.2m 
(30 April 2014: £0.8m).

The fair value of the options (Share option plans and SAYE share option schemes) is determined using the Black-Scholes option pricing 
model. The expected term used in the model is based on management’s best estimate, for the effects of non-transferability, exercise 
restrictions and behavioural considerations.

The expected dividend yield and volatility was calculated based on the historical yield and historical volatility of the Company since initial 
listing on the London Stock Exchange.

(a) Share option plans
Under the Group’s share option plans, options may be granted to the Directors and employees to purchase ordinary shares. 
No consideration is payable on the grant of an option. Options typically vest over a period of four years and the term of the options 
may not exceed 10 years. Share options are granted under a service condition. There are no market conditions associated with the share 
option grants. Options vest subject to continued employment although certain employees may be given extended vesting dates after 
their employment ceases.
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18 Share-based payments continued
(a) Share option plans continued

Financial year granted

Outstanding
at 1 May

2014

Granted
during

the year

Lapsed/
cancelled

during the
year

Exercised
during the

year

Outstanding
at 30 April

2015

Exercise
price

£
Exercisable

before

2005 70,303 – (34,183) (36,120) – 2.17 – 4.50 2015

2006 175,061 – (9,063) (149,336) 16,662 4.50 2016

2007 534,488 – (107,439) (424,686) 2,363 0.001 – 10.00 2017

2008 36,275 – (5,275) (28,000) 3,000 0.001 – 10.00 2018

2009 5,000 – (2,000) (3,000) – 0.001 – 10.00 2019

2010 10,000 – (10,000) – – 0.001 – 10.00 2020

2011 6,129 – (2,726) (403) 3,000 0.001 – 10.00 2021

2012 24,195 – (9,195) (15,000) – 0.001 – 8.71 2022

861,451 – (179,881) (656,545) 25,025

25,025 options were exercisable under this scheme as at 30 April 2015 (30 April 2014: 855,014).

The weighted average exercise price for share options exercised during the year is £7.94 (30 April 2014: £4.77) at a weighted average 
share price at the date of exercise of £11.74 (30 April 2014: £9.51).

The fair value of the options is expensed over the period that the options vest. The following assumptions were used in the Black-Scholes 
pricing model for the above options: 

Share price at date of grant £0.40 – £10.00

Exercise price £0.001 – £10.00

Expected volatility 32.51% – 62.71%

Expected term until exercised 1 – 5 years

Expected dividend yield Nil – 0.8%

Risk-free interest rate 0.35% – 5.79%

There were no options granted under the share options plan during the year ended 30 April 2015 (30 April 2014: none).

No expense was incurred in the year ended 30 April 2015 (30 April 2014: £nil).

(b) Save-As-You-Earn (“SAYE”) share option schemes
The Group operates an HMRC approved SAYE share option scheme in which all UK employees and some international employees 
can participate. Participants save a fixed amount of up to £500 (30 April 2014: £250) per month for three years and are then able to 
use these savings to buy shares in the Group at a price fixed at a 20% discount to the market value at the start of the savings period. 
There are no market conditions associated with the SAYE option grants.

The SAYE options must ordinarily be exercised within six months of completing the relevant savings period. In line with market practice, 
the exercise of these options is not subject to any performance conditions.

Financial year granted

Outstanding
at 1 May

2014

Granted
during

the year

Lapsed/
cancelled

during the
year

Exercised
during the

year

Outstanding
at 30 April

2015

Exercise
price

£
Exercisable

before

2012 271,395 – (16,955) (247,977) 6,463 5.68 2016

2014 210,350 – (50,162) (7,323) 152,865 8.17 2018

2015 – 473,081 (23,120) – 449,961 9.08 2019

481,745 473,081 (90,237) (255,300) 609,289

The weighted average exercise price for share options exercised during the year is £5.75 (30 April 2014: £5.96) at a weighted average 
share price at the date of exercise of £12.85 (30 April 2014: £9.93).
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The fair value of the options is expensed over the period that the options vest. The following assumptions were used in the Black-Scholes 
pricing model for the above options: 

2015 2010–2014

Share price at date of grant £13.51 £2.71 – £10.13

Exercise price £9.08 £2.17 – £8.17

Expected volatility 30.67% 33.36% – 54.40%

Expected term until exercised 3.25 years 3.25 years

Expected dividend yield 1.48% Nil – 1.29%

Risk-free interest rate 0.89% 0.84% – 5.08%

There were 473,081 SAYE options granted during the year ended 30 April 2015 (30 April 2014: 231,173). The weighted average fair 
value of the options granted in the year ended 30 April 2015 was £5.43.

The expense recognised in the income statement (excluding Employers’ National Insurance costs) was £0.6m (30 April 2014: £0.4m).

(c) Restricted share scheme
The Group provided a restricted shares scheme as part of its bonus plan until 2010. In 2011, the bonus plan was revised with the 
introduction of the Long Term Incentive Plan, Deferred Share Incentive Plan, Short Term Incentive Plan and Management Incentive Plan. 
Refer to note 18(d).

Awards made under the terms of the restricted shares scheme plan prior to 2010 have vested.

In January 2012, the Group modified certain outstanding share options and replaced them with restricted shares on a 3:1 basis. 
These were expensed over the remaining vesting period of the originally granted share options.

A number of individuals were granted restricted shares in the current and prior periods. These have a range of vesting periods of up to 
three years.

Outstanding
at 1 May

2014

Granted
during

the year

Lapsed/
cancelled

during the
year

Exercised
during the

year

Outstanding
at 30 April

2015

Exercise
price

£
Exercisable

before

2009 15,903 – (4,488) (11,415) – 0.001 2014

2012 30,550 – (3,750) (14,836) 11,964 0.001 2017

2013 247,859 – (14,525) (116,667) 116,667 0.001 2018

2014 63,894 – – (5,417) 58,477 0.001 2019

2015 – 70,029 – (10,000) 60,029 0.001 2020

358,206 70,029 (22,763) (158,335) 247,137

Restricted shares are valued with reference to the market value of the shares on the date of grant.

The weighted average exercise price for share options exercised during the year was £0.001 (30 April 2014: £0.001) at a weighted 
average share price at the date of exercise of £10.32 (30 April 2014: £9.94).
The total expense recognised in the income statement related to the restricted shares (excluding Employers’ National Insurance costs) 
was £0.9m (30 April 2014: £1.4m).

The Employers’ National Insurance costs amounted to £0.1m (30 April 2014: £0.2m).

(d) Long Term Incentive Plan, Deferred Share Incentive Plan, Short Term Incentive Plan and Management Incentive Plan
The following shares were introduced to incentivise and reward for the successful delivery of the short-term and long-term 
business strategy:

•	 Long Term Incentive Plan (“LTIP”) which consists of share options and restricted share awards;

•	 Short Term Incentive Plan (“STIP”) which consists of cash and restricted share awards; 

•	 Management Incentive Plan (“MIP”) which consists of cash and restricted share awards; and

•	 Deferred Share Incentive Plan (“DSIP”) which consists of cash and restricted share awards.

The schemes have awards in the form of cash, share options and restricted shares. Determining the fair value of each element is 
consistent with the measurement outlined above in each share-based payment category. The level of award granted in each of the 
schemes is based on a mixture of the individual performance of the employee and the Group-wide performance over the term of the 
award which is between one and three years.



FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

NOTES
(FORMING PART OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS)
CONTINUED

18 Share-based payments continued
(d) Long Term Incentive Plan, Deferred Share Incentive Plan, Short Term Incentive Plan and Management Incentive Plan continued

Scheme year

Outstanding
at 1 May

2014

Granted
during

the year

Lapsed/
cancelled

during the
year

Exercised
during the

year

Outstanding
at 30 April

2015

Exercise
price

£
Exercisable

before

2010 1,570 – – (1,570) – 0.001 2020

2011 2,223 – (324) (1,899) – 0.001 2021

2012 55,181 – (400) (50,663) 4,118 0.001-8.56 2022

2013 1,033,934 – (92,062) (46,395) 895,477 0.001 2023

2014 1,192,280 6,565 (218,540) (83,839) 896,466 0.001 2024

2015 – 1,286,636 (31,956) (4,469) 1,250,211 0.001 2025

2,285,188 1,293,201 (343,282) (188,835) 3,046,272

The weighted average exercise price for share options exercised during the year was £0.87 (30 April 2014: £0.001) at a weighted 
average share price at the date of exercise of £11.61 (30 April 2014: £9.71).

The fair value of the share options in the LTIP scheme is expensed over the three-year period that the options vest. No grants were 
awarded in the current year which included option elements. The following assumptions were used in the Black-Scholes pricing model for 
options granted in the year ended 30 April 2012

Financial year options granted 2012

Share price at date of grant £8.56

Exercise price £8.56

Expected volatility 43.91%

Expected term until exercised 4 years

Expected dividend yield Nil

Risk-free interest rate 1.97%

The STIP and the MIP have cash elements which are fixed in value and are paid and expensed in the first year that the awards are issued. 
The cash award represents two-thirds of the total award. There is no option given to elect to have these issued in shares. The cash 
element issued is classified as a cash bonus in the income statement and not a “cash-settled share-based payment” on the basis that the 
employee does not have the option to choose whether they receive cash or shares.

The restricted shares in the LTIP, DSIP, STIP and MIP are measured consistently with the treatment of other restricted shares. 
The restricted shares in the LTIP scheme vest at the end of the third year. The STIP, MIP and DSIP restricted shares vest over the second 
and third year of the scheme.

An expense of £7.7m for the options and restricted shares has been recognised (excluding Employers’ National Insurance costs) which 
is management’s best estimate of the charge in respect of these awards for the current year (30 April 2014: £4.7m). The removal 
of the TSR metric for certain options, as discussed in the Directors’ Remuneration Report, has not resulted in a modification under 
IFRS 2. The cash element of the scheme has been included in the bonus cash pool for the performance year ended 30 April 2015. 
The Employers’ National Insurance costs amounted to £1.1m (30 April 2014: £0.6m).

(e) Senior Executives’ Incentive Plan
The long-term Senior Executives’ Incentive Plan (“SEIP”) was approved by the Board on 16 October 2007. The plan entailed certain 
senior management and Directors being granted one-off awards consisting of a cash and restricted shares element. The scheme came 
into effect upon the admission of the Group’s shares on the London Stock Exchange, and the cash was paid on the date of admission to 
the participants in the scheme. The restricted shares were granted on the date of admission and half vested on the first anniversary of 
the listing and the next half on the second anniversary of the listing subject to continued employment.

The restricted shares in the SEIP are measured consistently with the treatment of other restricted shares.

No expense was incurred in the year ended 30 April 2015 (30 April 2014: £nil).

Scheme year

Outstanding
at 1 May

2014

Granted
during

the year

Lapsed/
cancelled

during the
year

Exercised
during the

year

Outstanding
at 30 April

2015

Exercise
price

£
Exercisable

before

2011 126,516 – – (126,516) – 0.001 2021

The weighted average exercise price for share options exercised during the year was £0.001 (30 April 2014: £0.001) at a weighted 
average share price at the date of exercise of £10.29 (30 April 2014: £9.30).
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(f) Stakeholder award scheme
During 2011, the Group issued restricted shares and phantom shares to the employees of the Group as part of the stakeholder award 
scheme. The scheme relates to the individual employees’ performance during the financial year ended 30 April 2010.

The restricted shares and phantom shares have a vesting period spanning from the first day of the financial year to which they relate to 
the vest date of 1 August 2011. The restricted shares in the scheme are convertible into shares upon vest date and they are measured 
consistently with the treatment of other restricted shares. The phantom shares in the scheme are only convertible to cash upon the vest 
date and they are measured based on the market value at the date of grant (1 May 2010: £10.00).

No expense was incurred in the year ended 30 April 2015 (30 April 2014: £nil).

Scheme year

Outstanding
at 1 May

2014

Granted
during

the year

Lapsed/
cancelled

during the
year

Exercised
during the

year

Outstanding
at 30 April

2015

Exercise
price

£
Exercisable

before

2011 35,221 – (1,805) (19,707) 13,709 0.001 2020

The weighted average exercise price for share options exercised during the year was £0.001 (30 April 2014: £0.001) at a weighted 
average share price at the date of exercise of £14.06 (30 April 2014: £9.39).

19 Employee benefits
Defined contribution plans
In August 2008, the Group introduced a defined contribution pension plan available to certain employees. The total expense shown 
within pension costs disclosed in note 4 relating to this plan in the current year was £2.0m (30 April 2014: £1.9m).

20 Financial instruments 
The carrying value of the Group’s financial instruments by category, together with their fair values, is analysed as follows:

Note

Carrying
value
2015

£m

Fair
value
2015

£m

Carrying
value
2014

£m

Fair
value
2014

£m

Financial assets

Available-for-sale financial assets

Available-for-sale financial assets 11 1.3 1.3 1.3 1.3

Loans and receivables

Trade and other receivables 13 8.7 8.7 7.6 7.6

Cash and cash equivalents 14 105.1 105.1 209.8 209.8

Financial liabilities

Fair value through the income statement

Derivative financial liability 20(b) (0.2) (0.2) (0.1) (0.1)

Deferred and contingent consideration 20(b) (20.5) (20.5) – –

Liabilities at amortised cost

Trade and other payables 15 (38.6) (38.6) (29.3) (29.3)

Amounts owed to joint ventures 15 – – (2.1) (2.1)

Net financial assets 55.8 55.8 187.2 187.2

(a) Fair values of financial instruments
Available-for-sale financial assets
The fair value of available-for-sale financial assets is valued by reference to valuation techniques using observable inputs other than 
quoted prices included within level 1.

Trade and other receivables
The fair value of trade and other receivables is valued at fair value less any provision for bad debts. The fair value is estimated using the 
present value of future cash flows discounted at the market rate of interest at the reporting date if the effect is material.
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20 Financial instruments continued
Cash and cash equivalents
The fair value of cash and cash equivalents approximates to book value due to its short-term maturity.

Trade and other payables and amounts owed to joint ventures
The fair value of trade and other payables and amounts owed to joint ventures is estimated as the present value of future cash flows, 
discounted at the market rate of interest at the balance sheet date if the effect is material.

Derivative financial instruments
Derivative financial instruments comprise sports betting open positions. The fair value of open sports bets at the year end has been 
calculated using the latest available prices on the Group’s own markets on relevant sporting events. The fair value calculation also includes 
the impact of any Exchange hedging activities in relation to these open positions.

Deferred and contingent consideration
The fair value of deferred and contingent consideration is estimated using the present value of acquired future cash flows discounted at 
the market rate of interest at the reporting date. The fair value is subsequently reassessed at each reporting date to reflect changes in 
estimates and assumptions.

The table below sets out fair value measurements using the IFRS 13 fair value hierarchy:

Note

Total
2015

£m

Level 1
2015

£m

Level 2
2015

£m

Level 3
2015

£m

Available-for-sale financial assets 11 1.3 – 1.3 –

Deferred and contingent consideration (20.5) – – (20.5)

Fair value of open bets (0.2) – (0.2) –

Net position (19.4) – 1.1 (20.5)

Note

Total
2014

£m

Level 1
2014

£m

Level 2
2014

£m

Level 3
2014

£m

Available-for-sale financial assets 11 1.3 – 1.3 –

Fair value of open bets (0.1) – (0.1) –

Net position 1.2 – 1.2 –

Categorisation within the hierarchy has been determined on the basis of the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value 
measurement of the relevant asset as follows:

Level 1 – valued using quoted prices in active markets for identical assets

Level 2 – valued by reference to valuation techniques using observable inputs other than quoted prices included within level 1

Level 3 – valued by reference to valuation techniques using inputs that are not based on observable market data.

There have been no transfers during the year between levels 1 and 2.

The fair value of open bet liabilities is classified as level 2 in the hierarchy using observable inputs other than quoted prices. The principal 
assumptions within the open bet liabilities valuation relate to anticipated gross win margins on unsettled bets with the fair value 
determined by future sporting results. The fair value of deferred and contingent consideration is classified as level 3 in the hierarchy using 
some inputs not based on observable market data. The principal assumptions within the deferred and contingent consideration valuation 
relate to future net operating cash flows, the associated time period of these cash flows, the discount rate applied and the anticipated 
growth rate.

(b) Financial risk management
The Board of Directors has overall responsibility for the establishment and oversight of the Group’s risk management framework. 
Risk management policies and procedures are reviewed regularly and monitored to reflect changes in market conditions and the 
Group’s activities.

The Group aims to develop a disciplined and constructive control environment in which all employees understand their roles and 
obligations surrounding risk management.

The Group has exposure to the following risks from its use of financial instruments:

•	 Liquidity risk

•	 Market risk including currency risk and interest risk

•	 Credit risk.
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This note presents information about the Group’s exposure to the above risks as well as outlining the Group’s objectives, policies and 
processes for managing financial risk and the measurement of capital.

Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will not be able to meet its financial obligations as they fall due. The Group’s approach to 
managing liquidity is to ensure, as far as possible, that it will always have sufficient liquidity to meet its liabilities when due, under both 
normal and stressed conditions, without incurring unacceptable losses or risking damage to the Group’s reputation. The Group also 
spreads its cash reserves across several highly rated banks and investments to mitigate counterparty risks.

The Group performs regular cash flow projections to ensure that it has sufficient cash on demand to meet expected operational expenses 
for a period of at least 90 days. The Group has no committed lines of credit.

The Group’s financial liabilities, including estimated interest payments and excluding the effect of netting agreements is summarised in the 
table below:

Carrying amount

Note
2015

£m
2014

£m

Non-derivative financial liabilities

Trade and other payables 15 38.6 29.3

Amounts owed to joint ventures 15 – 2.1

Derivative financial liabilities

Fair value of open bets (within Accruals) 0.2 0.1

Deferred and contingent consideration (within Other payables) 20.5 –

Total 59.3 31.5

The maturity analysis of the financial liabilities is as follows:

30 April 2015
0–30 days

£m
31–60 days

£m
61–90 days

£m
> 91 days

£m
Total

£m

Trade and other payables 37.1 1.2 0.1 0.2 38.6

Fair value of open bets 0.2 – – – 0.2

Deferred and contingent consideration – – – 20.5 20.5

30 April 2014

0–30 days
£m

31–60 days
£m

61–90 days
£m

> 91 days
£m

Total
£m

Trade and other payables 28.0 0.7 0.1 0.5 29.3

Fair value of open bets 0.1 – – – 0.1

Amounts owed to joint ventures 2.1 – – – 2.1

The undiscounted amounts payable under the deferred and contingent consideration total £31.1m.

Market risk
Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices, such as foreign currency exchange rates and interest rates, will affect the Group’s 
income or the value of its holdings in financial instruments. The objective of market risk management is to manage and control market 
risk exposures within acceptable parameters, while optimising the return on risk.

The management of market risk is performed by the Group under the supervision of the Corporate Risk Committee and according to the 
guidelines approved by them. The Group will utilise hedges where there is an identified requirement to manage profit or loss volatility.

Foreign currency risk
The Group is exposed to currency risk on sales and purchases that are denominated in a currency other than Pounds Sterling (GBP). 
The currencies in which these transactions primarily are denominated are US Dollars (USD), Euros (EUR) and Australian Dollars (AUD).

The Group does not normally hedge against these sales and purchases. However, the Group monitors all foreign currency exposures 
and where appropriate may undertake currency hedging to mitigate the risk of unfavourable foreign exchange movements on specific 
commitments the Group enters into.

The Group’s exposure to foreign currency risk is as follows. This is based on the carrying amount for monetary financial instruments 
except derivatives when it is based on notional amounts:
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20 Financial instruments continued
Liquidity risk continued
30 April 2015

GBP
£m

EUR
£m

USD
£m

AUD
£m

Other
£m

Total
£m

Cash and cash equivalents 78.2 12.0 13.4 0.9 0.6 105.1

Trade payables (4.5) (3.2) (0.5) – (0.4) (8.6)

Balance sheet exposure 73.7 8.8 12.9 0.9 0.2 96.5

30 April 2014
GBP
£m

EUR
£m

USD
£m

AUD
£m

Other
£m

Total
£m

Cash and cash equivalents 180.9 14.1 11.9 2.0 0.9 209.8

Trade payables (6.7) (1.2) (0.1) – (0.1) (8.1)

Balance sheet exposure 174.2 12.9 11.8 2.0 0.8 201.7

Sensitivity analysis
A 15.0% weakening of Pounds Sterling against the following currencies at 30 April would have increased/(decreased) equity and income 
statement by the amounts shown below. This calculation assumes that the change occurred at the balance sheet date and had been 
applied to risk exposures existing at that date.

This analysis assumes that all other variables, in particular other exchange rates and interest rates, remain constant.

Equity Income statement

2015
£m

2014
£m

2015
£m

2014
£m

Foreign currency

EUR 1.2 1.2 0.4 0.9

USD 2.2 1.9 0.1 0.2

AUD – – 0.2 0.4

A 15.0% strengthening of Pounds Sterling against the following currencies at 30 April 2015 would have had the equal but opposite 
effect on the above currencies to the amounts shown above, on the basis that all other variables remain constant.

Interest rate risk
The Group has no bank loans and therefore is not exposed to interest rate risk on its liabilities. At the balance sheet date the Group’s 
interest-bearing financial assets equated to cash and cash equivalents, all of which are held in variable rate instruments.

Sensitivity analysis
An increase of 100 and a decrease of 100 basis points in interest rates at the balance sheet date would have increased/(decreased) profit 
by the amounts shown below. The rationale behind the 1.0% sensitivity analysis is that interest rates in the UK have been low due to the 
economic climate and any increase or decrease greater than 1.0% is unlikely to occur. This calculation assumes that the change occurred 
at the balance sheet date and had been applied to risk exposures existing at that date.

This analysis assumes that all other variables, in particular foreign currency rates, remain constant and considers the effect of financial 
instruments with variable interest rates. The analysis is performed on the same basis for 2014 amounts.

2015
£m

2014
£m

Profit or loss

Increase 1.6 1.9

Decrease (1.1) (1.1)



ST
RA

TE
G

IC
 R

EP
O

RT
FI

NA
N

CI
AL

 ST
AT

EM
EN

TS
 A

N
D

CO
RP

O
RA

TE
 IN

FO
RM

AT
IO

N
G

O
VE

RN
AN

CE

Betfair Group plc Annual Report and Accounts 2015 114-115

Credit risk
Credit/counterparty risk is the risk of financial loss to the Group if a customer or counterparty to a financial instrument fails to meet its 
contractual obligations, and arises principally from the Group’s receivables from customers and investments.

Group treasury policy and objectives in relation to credit risk is to minimise the likelihood that the Group will experience financial loss due 
to counterparty failure and to ensure that in the event of a single loss, the failure of any single counterparty would not materially impact 
the financial wellbeing of the Group.

The Group limits its exposure to credit risk by only depositing surplus funds on a short-term basis. The ring-fenced customer funds held 
by the Group in trust are spread across leading banking groups with the main aim of reducing risk as opposed to maximising income.

As of 30 April 2015, the trade receivables balance was £3.6m (30 April 2014: £2.2m) of which £3.2m is current and £0.4m is past due.

An amount of £0.1m (30 April 2014: £0.3m) of the gross trade receivable balance has been provided for.

Exposure to credit risk
The carrying amount of the financial assets represents the maximum credit exposure. Therefore, the maximum exposure to credit risk at 
the balance sheet date was £113.8m (30 April 2014: £217.4m) being the total of the carrying amount of the financial assets excluding 
equity investments, shown in note 20(a).

Capital management
The capital structure of the Group consists of cash and cash equivalents and equity attributable to equity holders of the parent, 
comprising issued capital, reserves and retained earnings as disclosed in note 17.

The Group regularly monitors capital on the basis of gross cash (defined as cash and cash equivalents) which was £105.1m at 
30 April 2015 (30 April 2014: £209.8m). The Board’s policy is to maintain a strong capital base so as to maintain investor and 
creditor confidence and to sustain future development of the business. The Group’s objectives when managing capital are to safeguard 
the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern in order to provide returns for shareholders and benefits for stakeholders and to 
maintain an optimal capital structure to reduce the cost of capital. The Group finances its operations through retained earnings and the 
management of working capital and has sufficient capital for its needs. To maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group may adjust 
the dividend payment to shareholders, return capital to shareholders or issue new shares. As discussed in the Chairman’s Statement on 
page 5, the Board targets a progressive and sustainable dividend and considers the appropriate payout ratio to be approximately 50% of 
profit after tax in the medium term.

21 Operating leases 
The Group had total future minimum payments under non-cancellable operating leases as follows:

2015
£m

2014
£m

Not later than one year 6.0 5.6

Later than one year and not later than five years 12.6 12.9

Later than five years 1.9 2.3

Total 20.5 20.8

Operating lease payments represent rents payable by the Group for office properties. These leases have varying terms, escalation charges 
and renewal rights.

During the year £5.5m was recognised as an expense in the income statement in respect of operating leases (30 April 2014: £5.7m).

 22 Capital commitments 
Contracted but not provided for in the financial statements:

2015
£m

2014
£m

Capital 0.2 0.6

Marketing 10.0 14.1

Total 10.2 14.7
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23 Acquisitions during the year
On 17 February 2015 the Group acquired 100% of the equity interests in HRTV LLC, a horseracing television network, from 
The Stronach Group. As a result of the acquisition, the Group now has long-term television rights to the racecourses owned and 
operated by The Stronach Group. This strengthens the Group’s ability to drive incremental wagering on its advanced wagering platform 
and is expected to lead to additional advertising and distribution opportunities.

Initial cash consideration of $25.6m was paid by the Group upon acquisition, with estimated future consideration of $47.8m to be 
transferred over the next seven years. After discounting at 10% the total fair value of consideration at the acquisition date is estimated 
to be $56.5m, of which $6.3m is dependent on future performance over the next 7 years. There is no maximum cap on the amount 
payable however there are no reasonable changes in the assumptions used that would result in a material impact.

Details of the fair value of identifiable assets and liabilities acquired, purchase consideration and goodwill are as follows:

2015
£m

Cash paid 16.6

Deferred and contingent consideration 20.1

Total consideration 36.7

Non-current assets (excluding goodwill and other intangible assets) 0.2

Identifiable intangible assets

Broadcasting and wagering rights 31.3

Brand 0.4

Working capital 0.5

Net assets acquired 32.4

Goodwill 4.3

The main factor leading to the recognition of goodwill is the synergies expected to be generated from the combined television and 
wagering operations. The Group expects the goodwill recognised on acquisition to be tax deductible in full.

Given the value to the Group lies predominantly in the acquired broadcast and wagering rights and the ability to generate incremental 
wagering on the existing advanced wagering platform, the post-acquisition revenue and profit and the Group performance assuming the 
acquisition occurred at the beginning of the year have not been disclosed.

24 Related parties 
Group
Transactions between the Company and its subsidiaries, which are related parties, have been eliminated on consolidation and are not 
disclosed in this note.

Betfair Pty Limited
During the year, up to the date of disposal, the Group recharged the Australian joint venture, Betfair Pty Limited, the following costs:

•	 operational costs amounting to £2.3m (30 April 2014: £4.6m).

During the year the Australian joint venture recharged the Group the following costs:

•	 operational costs amounting to £1.1m (30 April 2014: £2.9m).

The outstanding balance of loans receivable from the Australian joint venture was fully repaid during the year (balance at 30 April 
2014: £6.3m). The balance was not interest bearing.

In addition to the recharges detailed above, the Group collected revenue on behalf of the joint venture and to a lesser extent the 
Australian joint venture collected revenue on behalf of the Group.

As at 30 April 2014, the Group owed £2.1m to the former Australian joint venture.

Featurespace Limited
During the year the Group was charged £0.1m (30 April 2014: £0.1m) for consultancy services by Featurespace Limited in which the 
Group has a non-controlling interest.

LMAX Limited
In the year ended 30 April 2014, the Group utilised tax losses amounting to £1.1m that were transferred from LMAX limited, for 
consideration of £0.3m. This consideration was paid in the year ended 30 April 2015.
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Transactions with key management personnel
Key management personnel compensation, including the Group’s Directors and Non-Executive Directors, is shown in the table below:

2015
£m

2014
£m

Short-term benefits 5.7 5.4

Share-based payment expense 5.4 4.6

Total 11.1 10.0

25 Dividends 
2015

£m
2014

£m

Amounts recognised as distributions to equity holders in the year

Final dividend for the year ended 30 April 2014 of 14.0p per qualifying ordinary share (30 April 2013: 9.0p) 14.6 9.3

Interim dividend for the year ended 30 April 2015 of 9.0p per qualifying ordinary share (30 April 2014: 6.0p) 9.5 6.3

Return of capital to shareholders 199.7 –

Total 223.8 15.6

As a result of the return of capital to shareholders, the Group paid an additional £1.0m in relation to stamp duty and fees.

The proposed final dividend for the year ended 30 April 2015 is 25.0 pence per share (30 April 2014: 14.0 pence). 

The proposed final dividend is subject to approval by shareholders at the Annual General Meeting and has not been included as a liability 
in these financial statements. The estimated dividend to be paid in respect of this amounts to £23.0m. 

Return to shareholders in respect of the financial year ended 30 April 2015
On 4 December 2014 the Company announced its intention, subject to shareholder approval to return approximately £200m to 
shareholders (the “Return of Cash”). This was implemented by way of a B share scheme followed by a share consolidation (the 
“Capital Reorganisation”), which offered shareholders the ability to elect to receive proceeds of £1.89 per share as income, capital or a 
combination of the two.

Each Existing Ordinary Share was sub-divided into one Intermediate Ordinary Share and one B share, and every eight Intermediate 
Ordinary Shares were immediately sub-divided and consolidated into seven New Ordinary Shares. 

Shareholders elected to receive the Return of Cash either as a dividend of £1.89 per B share or as consideration of £1.89 per B share for 
the purchase of their B shares by Jefferies International Limited (“Jefferies”). Following declaration of the B share dividend, the B shares 
automatically converted into deferred shares with, in practice, no economic or other rights, to be acquired from shareholders by the 
Company and subsequently cancelled. 

The Capital Reorganisation was implemented on 12 January 2015 following shareholder approval on 9 January 2015. The Existing 
Ordinary Shares were subdivided into 105,687,224 Intermediate Ordinary Shares and 105,687,224 B shares. The Intermediate Ordinary 
Shares were then subdivided and consolidated into 92,476,321 New Ordinary Shares of 0.095 pence each.

On 22 January 2015, in accordance with the results of the shareholder elections, Jefferies purchased 34,622,872 B shares for an 
amount equal to £1.89 per share. On 23 January 2015, the Company declared a B share dividend of £1.89 per B share, and following 
the declaration of the dividend, all B shares were converted into deferred shares. On 27 January the Company purchased 105,687,224 
deferred shares, being all of the deferred shares in issue, to be cancelled in line with previous communication to shareholders.

£1.0m has been transferred back to the Group from the Employee Benefit Trust. This represents the return of capital received by the 
Employee Benefit Trust in respect of the B shares created out of the ordinary shares held in the Employee Benefit Trust at the time of 
the return.

26 Contingent liabilities 
The Group operates in an uncertain marketplace where many governments are either introducing or contemplating new regulatory or 
fiscal arrangements. 

The Board monitors legal and regulatory developments and their potential impact on the business, however given the lack of a 
harmonised regulatory environment, the value and timing of any obligations in this regard are subject to a high degree of uncertainty and 
cannot always be reliably predicted.
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COMPANY BALANCE SHEET
AS AT 30 APRIL 2015

Note
2015 

£m
2014 

£m

Fixed assets

Investments 2 169.4 160.2

Current assets

Debtors 3 148.6 201.3

Cash at bank and in hand 0.1 0.2

148.7 201.5

Creditors: Amounts falling due within one year 4 (21.4) (6.5)

Net current assets 127.3 195.0

Net assets 296.7 355.2

Capital and reserves

Share capital 5 0.1 0.1

Share premium 5 5.3 21.9

Profit and loss account 5 291.3 333.2

Shareholders’ funds 296.7 355.2

These financial statements were approved by the Board of Directors on 17 June 2015 and were signed on its behalf by:

Breon Corcoran 					     Alexander Gersh
Chief Executive Officer 				    Chief Financial Officer
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NOTES
(FORMING PART OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS) 

1 Company accounting policies
The following accounting policies have been applied consistently in dealing with items which are considered material in relation to the 
Company’s financial statements.

Basis of preparation
The financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost accounting rules and in accordance with applicable accounting 
standards in the United Kingdom (UK).

Under section 408 of the Companies Act 2006 the Company is exempt from the requirement to present its own profit and loss account.

Under Financial Reporting Standard 1 the Company is exempt from the requirement to prepare a cash flow statement on the grounds 
that a parent undertaking includes the Company in its own published consolidated financial statements. The Company reported a profit 
for the financial year ended 30 April 2015 of £151.5m (30 April 2014: £264.8m ). 

Foreign currencies
Transactions in foreign currencies are recorded using the rate of exchange ruling at the date of the transaction. Monetary assets and 
liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated using the rate of exchange ruling at the balance sheet date and the gains or 
losses on translation are included in the consolidated profit and loss account.

Share-based payments
The Group’s share option plans and restricted shares scheme allows employees to acquire shares in the Betfair Group. The fair value 
of these schemes is recognised as an employee expense with a corresponding increase in equity, with the exception of cash-settled 
transactions which result in a corresponding increase in other creditors. The fair value is measured at grant date and spread over the 
period during which the employees become unconditionally entitled to participate in the scheme and is calculated using an option pricing 
model, taking into account the terms and conditions upon which the options were granted.

The amount recognised as an expense is adjusted to reflect the actual number of share options that vest.

Restricted shares are valued with reference to the market value of the shares on the date of grant. They have a vesting period of three 
years from the first day of the financial year to which they relate and one-third of the shares will vest each year for three years.

All cash-settled share-based payments are recorded as a liability and revalued at the market value at the balance sheet date with the 
difference taken to the profit and loss account, except where the cash component is fixed.

The Company has recognised an increase in investments corresponding to the FRS 20 Share-based payment charge in respect of awards 
to employees of subsidiary companies.

Cash and liquid resources
Cash comprises cash at bank and in hand and deposits repayable on demand, less overdrafts payable on demand.

Investments
Fixed asset investments are stated at cost less any provision for impairment.

Treasury share transactions
The Company has recognised an increase in investments corresponding to the FRS 20 Share-based payment charge.

Director and employee remuneration
The Company had no employees other than the Directors during the current or prior year.

The remuneration paid to Directors for services to the Company during the year was paid and accounted for by another entity within the 
Group. Details of the Directors’ remuneration is discussed in the Directors’ Remuneration Report on pages 53 to 72.

2 Investments
Shares in Group 

undertakings
£m

Cost

As at 1 May 2014 160.2

Increase in the cost of investment for share-based payments under FRS 20 9.2

At 30 April 2015 169.4
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3 Debtors
2015 

£m
2014 

£m

Amounts owed by fellow Group undertakings 148.6 201.3

4 Creditors: amounts falling due within one year
2015 

£m
2014 

£m

Amounts owed to fellow Group undertakings 21.4 6.5

5 Reconciliation of movement in capital and reserves

Share
capital

£m

Share
premium

£m

Capital 
redemption 

reserve 
£m

Profit and
loss account

£m

Total Parent 
equity

£m

Balance at 1 May 2013 0.1 19.4 – 77.5 97.0

Total profit for the year – – – 264.8 264.8

Issue of shares – 2.5 – – 2.5

Dividends paid – – – (15.6) (15.6)

Equity-settled share-based payment transactions – – – 6.5 6.5

Balance at 30 April 2014 0.1 21.9 – 333.2 355.2

Balance at 1 May 2014 0.1 21.9 – 333.2 355.2

Total profit for the year – – – 151.5 151.5

Issue of shares – 5.6 – – 5.6

Share premium cancellation – (22.2) – 22.2 –

Dividends paid – – – (24.1) (24.1)

Return of capital to shareholders, including fees and duty – – – (200.7) (200.7)

Equity-settled share-based payment transactions – – – 9.2 9.2

Balance at 30 April 2015 0.1 5.3 – 291.3 296.7

Return to shareholders in respect of the financial year ended 30 April 2015
On 4 December 2014 the Company announced its intention, subject to shareholder approval to return approximately £200m 
to shareholders (the “Return of Cash”). This was implemented by way of a B share scheme followed by a share consolidation 
(the “Capital Reorganisation”), which offered shareholders the ability to elect to receive proceeds of £1.89 per share as income, capital 
or a combination of the two.

Each Existing Ordinary Share was sub-divided into one Intermediate Ordinary Share and one B share, and every eight Intermediate 
Ordinary Shares were immediately sub-divided and consolidated into seven New Ordinary Shares. 

Shareholders elected to receive the Return of Cash either as a dividend of £1.89 per B share or as consideration of £1.89 per B share for 
the purchase of their B shares by Jefferies International Limited (“Jefferies”). Following declaration of the B share dividend, the B shares 
automatically converted into deferred shares with, in practice, no economic or other rights, to be acquired from shareholders by the 
Company and subsequently cancelled. 

The Capital Reorganisation was implemented on 12 January 2015 following shareholder approval on 9 January 2015. The Existing 
Ordinary Shares were subdivided into 105,687,224 Intermediate Ordinary Shares and 105,687,224 B shares. The Intermediate Ordinary 
Shares were then subdivided and consolidated into 92,476,321 New Ordinary Shares of 0.095 pence each.

On 22 January 2015, in accordance with the results of the shareholder elections, Jefferies purchased 34,622,872 B shares for an 
amount equal to £1.89 per share. On 23 January 2015, the Company declared a B share dividend of £1.89 per B share, and following 
the declaration of the dividend, all B shares were converted into deferred shares. On 27 January the Company purchased 105,687,224 
deferred shares, being all of the deferred shares in issue, to be cancelled in line with previous communication to shareholders.

£1.0m has been transferred back to the Group from the Employee Benefit Trust. This represents the return of capital received by the 
Employee Benefit Trust in respect of the B shares created out of the ordinary shares held in the Employee Benefit Trust at the time of 
the return.
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FIVE YEAR SUMMARY

£m 2015 2014 2013 2012* 2011*

Revenue 476.5 393.6 387.0 388.5 393.3

EBITDA before separately disclosed items 120.2 91.1 73.3 86.0 73.3

Separately disclosed items – restructuring and other – – (22.1) (2.5) (17.0)

EBITDA 120.2 91.1 51.2 83.5 56.3

Profit/(loss) before tax 101.2 61.1 (49.4) 54.2 26.6

Profit/(loss) for the year 86.4 51.0 (66.3) 34.0 23.0

*	As reported in previous Annual Reports and not restated for discontinued operation of LMAX.
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REGISTERED OFFICE
Betfair Group plc
Waterfront  
Hammersmith Embankment 
Chancellors Road 
(access on Winslow Road) 
London W6 9HP 
+44 (0) 20 8834 8000

corporate.betfair.com

Registrars
Computershare Investor Services PLC 
The Pavilions  
Bridgwater Road  
Bristol BS13 8AE 
0370 703 0084

www.computershare.com

Please contact Computershare quoting 
your shareholder reference number (on 
your share certificate or dividend tax 
voucher) for advice regarding any change 
of name or address, transfer of shares 
or loss/destruction of share certificate. 
Computershare will also be able to respond 
to general queries such as the number 
of shares you hold or payment details 
for dividends.

Amalgamation of accounts
Shareholders who receive duplicate sets 
of Company mailings owing to multiple 
accounts in their name should contact 
Computershare to request their accounts 
be amalgamated.

Dividend mandates
We encourage shareholders to have their 
dividends paid directly into their bank 
account. This method of payment removes 
the risk of delay or loss of dividend cheques 
in the post and ensures your account is 
credited on the due date. Tax vouchers 
are provided by Computershare. To take 
advantage of this convenient method of 
payment contact Computershare or visit 
www.investorcentre.co.uk.

Electronic communications
Using the Company’s corporate website 
as a method of communicating with 
shareholders the Company is able to 
distribute messages to shareholders 
instantaneously. Receiving the Company’s 
communications electronically allows 
the Company to communicate with its 
shareholders in a more environmentally 
friendly, cost effective and timely 
manner. You can to elect to receive email 
notifications by contacting Computershare 
or by registering with Investor Centre at 
www.investorcentre.co.uk.

Scams and frauds
Shareholders are advised to be wary of any 
unsolicited communications, such as:

•	 offers to buy or sell shares at a discount;

•	 opportunities to receive free 
company reports;

•	 free financial advice; and

•	 chances to invest in carbon credit 
trading schemes.

If you receive any unsolicited advice, 
make sure you get the correct name 
of the person and organisation and 
check that they are appropriately 
authorised by the FCA by visiting 
www.fca.org.uk. More information on 
protecting your investment can be found at 
www.fca.org.uk/consumers.

Share dealing
If you wish to buy or sell shares in the 
Company you can do this by using the 
services of a stockbroker or high street 
bank or through telephone or online 
dealing services. The Company’s Registrar, 
Computershare offer a telephone and 
online service, further information can 
be found at www.computershare.com/
sharedealingcentre or by calling 
0370 703 0084 (Mon–Fri).

Please note the following when 
contacting Computershare:

•	 you will need to have your shareholder 
reference number available; and

•	 if your shareholding is in certificated form 
you will need to present your valid share 
certificate(s) at the time of sale.

Please note the price of shares can go 
down as well as up, and you are not 
guaranteed to get back the amount 
you originally invested. If you are in any 
doubt you should contact an independent 
financial adviser. Details of stockbrokers in 
the UK can be found via the Association 
of Private Client Investment Managers and 
Stockbrokers (APCIMS) on  
+44(0) 20 7448 7100 or at 
www.apcims.co.uk.

ShareGift
If you have only a small number of shares 
which would cost more for you to sell 
than they are worth, you may wish to 
consider donating them to the charity 
ShareGift (Registered Charity 1052686) 
which specialises in accepting such shares 
as donations. The relevant stock transfer 
form may be obtained from the Company’s 
registrar Computershare. There are no 
implications for Capital Gains Tax purposes 
(no gain or loss) on gifts of shares to 
charity and it is also possible to obtain 
income tax relief. Further information about 
ShareGift may be obtained on  
020 7930 3737 or from 
www.sharegift.org.uk.

CORPORATE INFORMATION
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FIND OUT MORE ABOUT 
BETFAIR GROUP PLC

Betfair Group plc website
The Company’s corporate website provides shareholders with a broad range of information including investor information such as the 
Company’s financial statements, current and historic share prices, AGM materials, events and governance information. You may visit the 
investor website at: corporate.betfair.com/Investor-relations 

Financial calendar

FY15 Final Results 17 June 2015
Q1 FY16 Interim Management Statement 7 September 2015

Annual General Meeting 9 September 2015

Ex-dividend date 10 September 2015

Record date 11 September 2015

Payment of final dividend 9 October 2015

Betfair Online
Here you will find the latest information on the following:

•	 The Betfair Group

•	 Investor Relations

•	 Corporate Responsibility

•	 Latest news and media

corporate.betfair.com

Betfair Group plc
Waterfront  
Hammersmith Embankment  
Chancellors Road (access on Winslow Road) 
London W6 9HP

For general enquiries please contact: 
Email: investor.relations@betfair.com 
Phone: +44 (0) 20 8834 8000

INVESTOR RELATIONS
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